
 
 

 
 
Committee: 
 

LICENSING COMMITTEE 

Date: 
 

THURSDAY, 5 FEBRUARY 2026 

Venue: 
 

MORECAMBE TOWN HALL 

Time: 1.00 P.M. 
 

A G E N D A 
 
 
1. Apologies for Absence  
 
2. Minutes  
 
 To receive as a correct record the Minutes of meeting held on 13th November 2025 

(previously circulated).   
  
3. Items of Urgent Business authorised by the Chair  
 
4. Declarations of Interest  
 
 To receive declarations by Councillors of interests in respect of items on this Agenda.   

Councillors are reminded that, in accordance with the Localism Act 2011, they are 
required to declare any disclosable pecuniary interests which have not already been 
declared in the Council’s Register of Interests. (It is a criminal offence not to declare a 
disclosable pecuniary interest either in the Register or at the meeting).   

Whilst not a legal requirement, in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 9 and in the 
interests of clarity and transparency, Councillors should declare any disclosable pecuniary 
interests which they have already declared in the Register, at this point in the meeting.   

In accordance with Part B Section 2 of the Code Of Conduct, Councillors are required to 
declare the existence and nature of any other interests as defined in paragraphs 8(1) or 
9(2) of the Code of Conduct.   

 
 

  
 Matters for Decision  
 
5. Hackney Carriage Fare Review 2026 (Pages 3 - 10) 
 
 Report of the Licensing Manager 
  
6. Proposed Licensing Fees 2026/27 (Pages 11 - 27) 
 
 Report of the Licensing Manager 
  
7. Government Consultation - Taxi and PHV Licensing (Pages 28 - 64) 



 

 
 Report of the Licensing Manager.   
  
ADMINISTRATIVE ARRANGEMENTS 
 
(i) Membership 

 
 Councillors Paul Tynan (Chair), Sally Maddocks (Vice-Chair), Louise Belcher, 

Gerry Blaikie, Martin Bottoms, Maria Deery, Martin Gawith, John Hanson, 
Margaret Pattison and John Wild 
 

 
(ii) Queries regarding this Agenda 

 
 Please contact Sarah Moorghen, Democratic Support - email 

smoorghen@lancaster.gov.uk. 
 

(iii) Changes to Membership, or apologies 
 

 Please contact Democratic Support, telephone 582000, or alternatively email 
democracy@lancaster.gov.uk.  
 
 
 

MARK DAVIES, 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE, 
TOWN HALL, 
DALTON SQUARE, 
LANCASTER, LA1 1PJ 
 
Published on 28th January 2026.   

 

mailto:democracy@lancaster.gov.uk


 

 

Licensing Committee  
 

 
Hackney Carriage Fare Review 2026 

 
 5 February 2026 

 
Report of Licensing Manager 

  
 

PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
This report is to discuss whether to introduce a new fare tariff in relation to licensed hackney 
carriages operating in the Lancaster district. 
 
Any decision to update fares will require a referral to Cabinet for decision. 
 

This report is public  

 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS  
 
(1) That members consider introducing a new fare tariff for hackney carriages 

operating in the Lancaster district, and; 
 
(2) If necessary, refer their findings to the next Cabinet meeting for approval. 
 
 
1.0 Introduction 
 
1.1 Section 65 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 makes 

provision for the Council to fix the rates of fares within the district for time, distance 
and all other charges in connection with the hire of a hackney carriage.  The table of 
fares is attached to the inside of a hackney carriage; this allows members of the 
public to view all charges when hiring a vehicle. 
 

1.2 The current table of fares took effect on 19th April 2023 and is attached at Appendix 
1. 
 

1.3 The setting of fares is an Executive function as it is not one that is listed in the Local 
Authorities (Function and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000 and therefore 
falls to the Cabinet to make the decision. In its capacity as an advisory Committee to 
Cabinet, the Licensing Committee are required to refer any decision to Cabinet for 
approval. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 3 Agenda Item 5



2.0 Background 
 
2.1 The current hackney carriage table of fares, the frequency of tariff reviews and 

method for fare setting in future years was approved by the Councils Cabinet on 12th 
April 2022. This was following a period of engagement and consultation with the 
licensed trade. 

 
2.2 It was approved that, retail price index (RPI) would be applied annually across the 

tariff, including flag fall and rolling rate, rounding down to the nearest 5p. 
 The statutory requirement for advertisement and consultation would then follow 

before an updated table of fares would be published, with an updated table of fares 
coming into effect on a specified date. 

  
 
3.0 Current Position 
 
3.1 The retail price index for November 2023,2024, and 2025 was 5.3%,3.6% and 3.8%, 

this has been applied across the tariff as approved by Cabinet.  
 

The table of fares reflecting those updates is attached at Appendix 2. 
 
 If members are minded amending the table of fares, they may wish to consider 

soiling charges as applying RPI to this charge was not included in the approved 
methodology. The soiling charge is a maximum charge vehicle proprietors can 
charge members of the public should they soil the vehicle. It should represent to cost 
of cleaning the vehicle and/or loss of earnings for the take taken to ensure the 
vehicle is roadworthy. 

 
It remained, as it has done for many years at £100 (maximum). 

 
 
4.0 Options and Options Analysis (including risk assessment) 
 
4.1 The options available to members are listed in the table, along with the 

advantages/disadvantages and risks associated with each option. 
 
  

 Option 1:  
Maintain current    
table of fares 
implemented in April 
2023. 

Option 2:  
Apply retail price 
index (RPI) across 
the tariff. 
 

Option 3: 
Deregulate fare 
setting 

Advantages 
Public are aware of 
expected fares when 
hiring a hackney 
carriage. 
 
Trade supported 
option (majority). 

Drivers’ income is 
increased in line 
with rising cost of 
living 
 
The licensed 
profession may be 
perceived as a 
career option for 
local people. 

Allows licensed 
trade to calculate 
their own fares, 
they may be best 
placed to 
calculate costs. 
 

Disadvantages 
The current table of 
fares may not 
represent current 

Cost of calibration 
to drivers. 
 

Licensing 
Authority has no 
control on 

Page 4



cost of living. 
 
 

Increase not 
comparable with 
current app-based 
competitors. 

charges passed 
to the public. 
 
May create 
confusion as 
fares could vary 
across the trade. 

Risks 
Not consistently 
applying the 
methodology 
approved by Cabinet. 
 
 
Drivers may decide 
to leave the trade, 
fares do not meet the 
demands of the rising 
costs of living. 
 
 

Increase too much 
for service users. 
Drivers may see 
reduced income 
due to lack of 
public use. 

Lack of public 
confidence in use 
of Hackney 
Carriages due to 
unknown 
charges. 
 
Varying charges 
between 
proprietors 
creating 
confusion  

 
 
 
5.0 Consultation  
 
5.1 Members of the local Hackney Carriage trade and Private Hire Operators were 

contacted and requested to provide feedback on whether an uplift in fares is required 
at this time. Additionally, local insights on matters affecting their position, costs and 
any relevant contributing factors. 

 
5.2 Representatives of all 110 Hackney Carriage vehicles 52 Private Hire Operators 

were contacted; 13 responses were received, 3 in support of an uplift, 10 believe the 
current table of fares should remain for a further 12 months. 

 
 Reasons for Uplift  
 

• Increase fares to meet national average as a minimum. (as set out in trade 
magazine) 

• A change would help the trade. 

• Significant rise in costs, particularly fuel prices, vehicle maintenance/repairs, 
insurance and licence fees. The current fare structure no longer reflects the 
present economic conditions or the level of inflation faced by drivers. 
Maintaining fares at their current level for an extended period may negatively 
impact the sustainability of the trade and the ability to continue providing a 
safe, reliable, and high-quality service to the public. A reasonable adjustment 
to the fares would be justified and would help ensure the long-term viability of 
the local Hackney Carriage trade. 

 
 Reasons to Remain 
 

• Uber are destroying the local trade, we can`t compete. 

• Times are hard, Uber are in the district, and their fares are already lower. 

• Any increase would have a negative impact on local Hackney Carriage 
business, in the current climate. 

• Christmas takings were down by 40% 

Page 5



• Current fares adequate in current market 

• Look at it next year, hopefully out of town plated vehicles and cross border 
hiring may gain attention from Central Government and improve local trade. 

• Any increase will result in Hackneys going out of business, it needs managing 
carefully. 

• The current Hackney fares are reasonable, and no increase or decrease is 
necessary.  Given that Uber consistently undercuts prices, maintaining the 
existing fare structure will help ensure we remain competitive.   

 
No further insight was provided regarding fuel costs, insurance premiums or policy 
matters. 

 
6.0  Officer preferred option 
 
6.1 The number of trade responses was poor; it is disappointing given over 150 emails 

were sent with an open invite for comment/insight to assist Officers in the setting of 
fares. However, the comments received by those responding are honest and fair. 

 
6.2 It is the Officers preferred option to maintain fares for a further 12 months, the 

presence of other “out of town” vehicles in the district (many with lower tariffs) 
present a risk to the local Hackney Carriage trade; any increase in fares may lead the 
public to look to other services/platforms; this may threaten the viability of the local 
Hackney carriage trade.  

 
 
7.0 Conclusion 
 
7.1 In 2022, following a period of consultation with the public and licensed trade, the 

Councils Cabinet, on recommendation of Licensing Committee agreed a 
methodology for fare reviews in relation to hackney carriages operating in the district.  

 
7.2 Options for the coming year are set out above and include applying the approved 

methodology, deregulation fare setting and maintaining the current table of fares for a 
further 12 months, 

 
7.3 As this is an Executive decision the Licensing Committee is not the decision-making 

body so must refer any adjustment to Cabinet for their approval. 
 
7.4 Members are requested to provide detailed reasons for their decisions, particularly if 

departing from policy. 
 
 

CONCLUSION OF IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
(including Diversity, Human Rights, Community Safety, Sustainability and Rural 
Proofing) 
None. 
 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
There are no direct financial implications to the Council as a result of this report 

Page 6



SECTION 151 OFFICER’S COMMENTS 
 
Not applicable 
 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  

Pursuant to Section 65 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, the 
advertising requirements are as follows: - 

1. Putting a notice in the local paper 

2. Notice must specify a date, not less than 14 days from the date that the notice is 
published to allow for objections and is the date, if no objections are made, that the 
revised fare will come into force. 

3. If objections are made and not withdrawn the Council must consider those objections 
and the fares then will come into effect (modified or unmodified) within 2 months of 
the original date. 

 

MONITORING OFFICER’S COMMENTS 
 
Not applicable 
 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
None. 

Contact Officer: Jennifer Curtis 
Telephone:  01524 582732 
E-mail: jcurtis@lancaster.gov.uk 
Ref: JC/Fares2026/27 

 

Page 7



Directorate for Communities and the Environment 
Licensing Section 

Morecambe Town Hall, Marine Road East 
Morecambe LA4 5AF 

Tel: 01524 – 582033 Email:licensing@lancaster.gov.uk 

 

HACKNEY CARRIAGE TABLE OF FARES 
Applicable from Midday, Wednesday 19th April 2023 

 

Tariff 1 
For hirings commenced between 07:01hrs and 23:59hrs 

If the distance does not exceed 880 yards for the whole distance: £3.20 

For each of the subsequent 160 yards or uncompleted part thereof: 20p 

Waiting Time: For each period of 40 seconds or uncompleted part thereof 20p 
 

Tariff 2 
For hirings commenced between: midnight and 07:00hrs 
For hirings commenced between: 19:00hrs and midnight on the 24thDecember 
 For hirings commenced between: 19:00hrs and midnight on the 31sDecember 
 For hirings commencing on: Any Bank Holiday or Public Holiday 

If the distance does not exceed 880 yards for the whole distance: £4.80 

For each subsequent 160 yards or uncompleted part thereof: 30p 

Waiting time: For each period of 40 seconds or uncompleted part thereof 30p 
 

Tariff 3 
For hirings commenced between: 00:01hrs 25th December and 07:00 27th December 
For hirings commenced between 00.01 1st January and 07.00 2nd January 

If the distance does not exceed 880 yards for the whole distance: £6.40 

For each subsequent 160 yards or uncompleted part thereof: 40p 

Waiting time: For each period of 40 seconds or uncompleted part thereof 40p 
 

Additional Charges 
For each passenger in excess of one 
(for the purpose two children aged 11 or under to count as one passenger for the whole 
distance) 

 

20p 

For each perambulator or article of luggage carried outside the passenger compartment of the 
vehicle 

20p 

SOILING CHARGE: 

A charge may be requested if the passenger(s) soils the vehicle. Maximum Charge: £100.00
 

The driver may at his/her discretion require the payment of an agreed amount in advance of the journey.  

The amount will be set against the metered fare. A receipt will be given.   

A booking fee up to a maximum of £4.00 may be charged where: 

(a) The Hackney carriage is booked in advance; and 
 

(b) (i) The Customer shall be told the cost of the booking fee at the time that the booking is taken and the 
amount recorded in the booking log; and 
 

       (ii)  The customer shall be told that the booking fee is in addition to the fare for the journey; and  

(c) The hiring involves a separate journey of at least one mile, starting from the taxi rank or the operator’s 
premises, to the pickup point.    

 

Any complaints regarding the vehicle and/or driver should be addressed to the Licensing Service, Public Protection, 
Morecambe Town Hall, Marine Road, Morecambe, LA4 5AF. Telephone [01524] 582033. Email 
licensing@lancaster.gov.uk 
 

 

Page 8



 Current 

Tariff 1
If the distance does not exceed 880 yards for the whole distance: 3.20        
For each of the subsequent 160 yards or uncompleted part thereof: 0.20        
Waiting Time: For each period of 40 seconds or uncompleted part thereof 0.20        

Tariff 2
If the distance does not exceed 880 yards for the whole distance: 4.80        
For each subsequent 160 yards or uncompleted part thereof: 0.30        
Waiting time: For each period of 40 seconds or uncompleted part thereof 0.30        
Tariff 3
If the distance does not exceed 880 yards for the whole distance: 6.40        
For each subsequent 160 yards or uncompleted part thereof: 0.40        
Waiting time: For each period of 40 seconds or uncompleted part thereof 0.40        

Additional Charges
For each passenger in excess of on  e (for the purpose two children aged 11 or under to count as one 0.20        
For each perambulator or article of luggage carried outside the passenger compartment of the vehicle 0.20        
SOILING  CHARGE:A charge may be requested if the passenger(s) soils the vehicle.              100.00   

Page 9



5.30% 3.60% 3.80%
23/24 24/25 25/26

+ Nov 23 RPT + Nov 24 RPI + Nov 25 RPI  Rounded down to 
nearest 5p Difference

3.37                   3.49                  3.62                  3.60                            0.40            
0.21                   0.22                  0.23                  0.20                            -              
0.21                   0.22                  0.23                  0.20                            -              

5.05                   5.24                  5.44                  5.40                            0.60            
0.32                   0.33                  0.34                  0.30                            -              
0.32                   0.33                  0.34                  0.30                            -              

6.74                   6.98                  7.25                  7.25                            0.85            
0.42                   0.44                  0.45                  0.45                            0.05            
0.42                   0.44                  0.45                  0.45                            0.05            

0.21                   0.22                  0.23                  0.20                            -              
0.21                   0.22                  0.23                  0.20                            -              

105.30               109.09              113.24              110.00                       10.00          

Page 10



 

 

 LICENSING COMMITTEE  

 
Proposed Licensing Fees 2026/27 

  
5 February 2026 

 
Report of the Licensing Manager  

  
 

PURPOSE OF REPORT 
To provide members with the necessary information to enable the setting of licence fees for 
2026/27 (Taxi, Private Hire and Miscellaneous licences). 
 

This report is public.  

 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS  
 
That the licensing fees for Taxi, Private Hire and Miscellaneous licences be determined for 
2026/27 on consideration of the information and options contained in this report. 
 
 
1.0 Introduction 

 
1.1 This report is concerned with the setting of licence fees for the following licences. 

 

• Driver, Vehicle and Operator Licences (Taxi and Private Hire) 

• Transfer of Ownership and Change of Vehicle Licences 

• Scrap Metal Dealers (Mobile and Site) 

• Skin Piercing Registration (Personal and Premises) 

• Sexual Entertainment Venues 

• Sex Shops 

• Boatman and Pleasure boats 

• Second-hand goods dealer/Market trader 

• Pavement Licences 
 

The setting of such fees is a non-executive function and is therefore a matter for this 
Committee. 

 
1.2 Licensing fees for taxi/private hire and miscellaneous licensing are considered and set 

under the following legislation. 
 

• Local Government Miscellaneous Provision Act 1976 

• Local Government Miscellaneous Provision Act 1982 

• Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013 

• County of Lancashire Act 1984 

• Public Health Acts amended Act 1907 

• The Animal Welfare (Licensing of Activities Involving Animals) (England) 
Regulations 2018 

Page 11 Agenda Item 6



 

• Business and Planning Act 2020 
  
 
2.0  Setting Fees  
 
2.1  The Council’s Fees & Charges Policy states that when setting discretionary charges, 

the general aim is to cover the cost of the service, accurately reflecting the full cost of 
provision including recharges. However, fees must be reasonable and proportionate.  

 The fees and charges policy in relation to licensing fees offers a standard of good 
practice, although it is not legally binding on Licensing Committee. 

 
2.2     It is also a requirement of the Council’s fees & charges policy that fees be reviewed 

annually to ensure that costs are appropriately recovered.  It is not lawful however, for 
the council to seek to make a profit from licence fees that are within its discretion. 

 
 The Councils fees and charges policy 2026 is attached at Appendix 1. 
 
2.3 A full and detailed review of Licensing fees and charges has been undertaken in 

conjunction with financial services. This has included time/task analysis for each 
licence type, scrutiny of application data and consideration of the operational changes 
within the Licensing service. 

 
 
3.0 Method of Fee Construction 
 
3.1 Traditionally the fees charged for licences have included the costs of the administration 

and issue of the licence, the costs of monitoring compliance, and the costs of enforcing 
against those unlicensed and licensed.  
 
However, the case of Hemmings v Westminster City Council has clarified the costs 
that local authorities can include when setting licence fees. Local Authorities can no 
longer reflect costs of addressing unlicensed business activity when setting fees. 
They can however recover inspection costs and monitoring compliance relating to 
those already licensed. 

 
3.2 Therefore, time spent by the Licensing Service investigating unlicensed or alleged 

illegal activity has not been included in any time/task analysis.  
  

Taxi and Private Hire Licences 
 
3.2 The power to charge a fee for a driver’s licence (both Hackney Carriage and Private 

Hire) is found in section 53(2) of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 
1976, which provides that: 

  

• Notwithstanding the provisions of the Act of 1847, a district council may demand and 
recover for the grant to any person of a licence to drive a hackney carriage, or a private 
hire vehicle, as the case may be, such a fee as they consider reasonable with a view 
to recovering the costs of issue and administration and may remit the whole or part of 
the fee in respect of a private hire vehicle in any case in which they think it appropriate 
to do so. 

 
3.3 Therefore the fee must reflect the costs for the administration and issue of hackney 

carriage or private hire drivers licences. 
 
3.4 The power to levy a fee for vehicle and operator’s is contained within s.70: 

Page 12



 

 

• Subject to the provisions of subsection (2) of this section, a district council may charge 
such fees for the grant of vehicle and operators' licences as may be resolved by them 
from time to time and as may be sufficient in the aggregate to cover in whole or in 
part— 
 
(a)     the reasonable cost of the carrying out by or on behalf of the district council of 
inspections of hackney carriages and private hire vehicles for the purpose of 
determining whether any such licence should be granted or renewed; 
  
(b)    the reasonable cost of providing hackney carriage stands; and 
 
(c)    any reasonable administrative or other costs in connection with the foregoing and 
with the control and supervision of hackney carriages and private hire vehicles. 

 
 Therefore, the fee must reflect the costs of providing hackney carriage stands, control 

and supervision of licensed vehicles operating in the district, carrying out vehicle 
inspections and the administration and issue of hackney carriage or private hire vehicle 
and operator licences. 

 
3.5 A licensing authority is entitled to set either the same or different fee levels for 

different types of applications: i.e. grant, renewal, variation, alteration or transfer.  
 

 
4.0 Proposed Fees 
 
4.1 The Licensing service has historically been running at a deficit. It should be noted that 

not all time can be recovered so there will always be an overall deficit on Licensing for 
this. At present the fees for Licensing Act 2003 are set by central Government so we 
are unable to recover any potential losses.  e.g. The cost of a temporary event notice 
is £21.00, the processing of this notification involves a consultation process and 
potentially may involve Licensing Sub-Committee hearings, all time and associated 
costs cannot be recovered. 

 
4.2 A thorough costing exercise has been undertaken on taxi and miscellaneous licences, 

with a view to returning to full cost recovery where possible, attached at Appendix 2 
are the proposed fees for 2026/27; It is not proposed to seek to recover the losses 
from previous years.  

 
4.3 It is important to highlight some of fees, the reason for their adjustment 

(increase/decrease).  
 

• New staffing structure introduced Senior Licensing Officer, operationally closer to 
service, allowing Licensing Manager to lead the service more strategically. 

• Unmet demand survey (annual direct cost) removed from Hackney Carriage Vehicle 
Licence, will be reintroduced in 2027/28.  

• DBS interim checks (annual direct cost) to Taxi Plus, price increase. 

• Taxi and private hire related matters are the greatest demand on the service, taking 
up a calculated 60-70% of Officer and Manager time. 

 
4.4 In line with Cabinet’s recent endorsement of the latest version of the fees and charges 

policy and proposed inflationary uplift, the Animal Licence fees will be increased by 
3.8% from 1st April 2026. Attached at Appendix 3.  

 
 

Page 13



 

5.0 Options 
 
 The options available to members are: 
 

a. To maintain current fees and charges 
 

b. Adjust fees as proposed at Appendix 2 and 3. 
 

c. Amend any individual licence/registration fee, and 
 

d. Advertise the updated fees as required by s70 of Local Government 
Miscellaneous Provisions Act 1976. 
 

 
6.0 Conclusions  
 
6.1 A thorough costings review has been undertaken, the Officer activity to administer 

and monitor individual licences has been scrutinised.  
 
6.2 It is recommended that members set the fees for hackney carriage, private hire and 

miscellaneous licences for 2026/27, in accordance with the statutory provisions. 
 
6.3 Should members decide to introduce a different fee structure then this will need to be 

proposed and agreed prior to advertisement. 
 
 

CONCLUSION OF IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
(including Diversity, Human Rights, Community Safety, Sustainability and Rural 
Proofing) 
 
None. 
 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
The fees proposed in this report will have no overall impact on the budget, with the total income 
remaining roughly in line with the total income budgets recommended as part of the 2026/27 
budget report to be presented to Council 3 February 2026 due to some increases and some 
decreases based on current costs. 
 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  
Legal Services have been consulted and have no adverse comments to make regarding the 
content of the report. 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
None 
 

Contact Officer:  Jennifer Curtis 
Telephone:  01524 582732 
E-mail: jcurtis@lancaster.gov.uk 
Ref: Fees 2026/27 

 

 

Page 14



 

 

                                                  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

FEES AND CHARGES POLICY 
 
 

January 2026 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX A 

Page 15



 

 
1 INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 The decisions made by councils about charging for local public services affect 

everyone.  Where councils charge for services, users pay directly for some or 
all of the costs of the services they use.  Where no charges are made, or where 
charges do not recover the full cost of providing a service, council taxpayers 
subsidise users. 

 
1.2 Fees and charges represent an important source of income, providing finance 

to help achieve the corporate objectives of the City Council.  The purpose of 
this policy is to set out a clear framework within which fees and charges levied 
by the Council are agreed and regularly reviewed. 

 
1.3 The decisions on whether to make a charge (and the amount to charge) are 

not always within the control of the Council.  Where they are controlled locally, 
however, it is important that the implications of the charging decisions being 
taken are fully understood and that the appropriate information is available to 
make informed decisions. 

 
1.4 This policy therefore provides clear guidance to service managers on: 
 

• the setting of new fees and the policy context within which existing 
charges should be reviewed; 

• how fees and charges can assist in the achievement of corporate 
priorities; 

• the Council’s approach to cost recovery and income generation from 
fees and charges; and 

• eligibility for concessions. 
 
1.5 The policy supports the Council in having a properly considered, consistent and 

informed approach to all charges it makes for its services.  This will, in turn, 
support the delivery of corporate objectives. 

 
 
2 GENERAL POLICY 
 
2.1 This policy relates to fees and charges currently being levied by the Council 

and those which are permissible under relevant legislation, including the wider 
general powers to provide and charge for discretionary services included within 
the Local Government Act 2003. 

 
2.2 Statutory charges also fall within the scope of the policy, even though their level 

may not be determined by the Council.  This ensures clarity and consistency 
and allows subsequent reviews of the policy to be comprehensive.  It also 
enables changes to the national legislative charging framework, and any other 
situations that may arise in the future, to be addressed. 

 
Council policies, strategies and priorities 

 
2.3 Specific decisions and charging policies should support delivery of the council’s 

Corporate Plan and other local strategies and service objectives. Charging 
decisions will take account of the council’s corporate priorities and have regard 
for the potential impact on other service areas. 

 

Page 16



 

 
Basis of Charging Decisions  

 
2.4 The council will charge for all services where it is appropriate and cost-effective 

to do so, unless there are contrary policies, legal or contractual reasons that 
state otherwise. 

 
2.5 When discretionary charges are set, the general aim will be to cover the cost 

of the service or, where legally possible, the council may charge on a 
commercial basis. Charges will reflect the full cost of provision, unless covered 
by subsidies/concessions designed to meet corporate priorities or there are 
contrary policies or legal reasons. 

 
Subsidies and/or Concessions 

 
2.6 Subsidies and concessions may be used to help achieve specific targets or 

objectives.  Concessions should be awarded and reviewed in relation to each 
service.  Where subsidies and concessions are applied, there should be a 
proportionate evaluation process in place to measure levels of success in 
meeting these objectives.  Definitions and qualifying criteria for concessionary 
target groups should be consistent across the Council. 
 

2.7 Any reference to the setting or review of fees and charges within this policy 
should be taken to include/cover any relevant subsidies or concessions also. 

 
Surplus Income  

 
2.8 Income derived from charging will be used to offset the costs of providing the 

service being charged for, including support service costs. Where a surplus, 
over budget, is generated in-year, its use shall be determined in accordance 
with the Council’s Financial Regulations (in particular, the virement scheme as 
set out in the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS)).  This is on the 
provision that this is not prohibited by other statutory requirements or 
government guidance. 

 
2.9 It is acknowledged that the ability to use charges to deliver the corporate 

priorities of the Council requires a degree of freedom; corporate controls should 
avoid imposing unnecessary restrictions, but also the Council’s future 
budgetary challenges need to be addressed. 
 

2.10 Any proposals for generating any additional income (over and above normal 
budgetary provisions) to be raised from charging in the expansion and 
development of a particular service will be considered as part of the budget and 
planning process, and in line with the approved Medium Term Financial 
Strategy.  Each proposal will therefore be considered on its own merits and in 
light of financial planning processes and other pressures. 

 
Efficient Administration 

 
2.11 Arrangements for charging and collecting fees should be efficient, practical and 

simple to understand by users, and meet any other requirements of the 
Council’s Financial Regulations and supporting processes.  The reasons 
behind any significant changes to charges should be communicated to 
residents and service users. The impact of charging decisions on service users 
and local residents will need to be taken into account. 

 

Page 17



 

 
 

Regular Review 
 

2.12 Charges, and decisions not to charge, will be reviewed annually in sufficient 
time for the impact of any revisions to be included in the budget setting process.  
This ensures that they fit within the approved budget framework, as determined 
by full Council.  
 
Policy Implementation  
 

2.13 This policy encompasses decisions made as part of the annual fees and 
charges review process, where new charges are introduced or where existing 
charges are removed or amended. 

 

2.14 It supports the Council’s Financial Regulations, which are part of the 

Constitution. Under the Regulations, Chief Officers and others designated by 
them are responsible for collecting budgeted income, and maximising such 
income in accordance with this policy and any other relevant supporting 
policies. 
 

2.15 Furthermore, under the Scheme of Delegation to Officers, which is also 
included in the Constitution, such Officers have authority to set fees and 
charges in accordance with relevant legislation and any charging policy set by 
Cabinet (as long as they fit with the approved budget framework). 

 
 
3 DETERMINING SPECIFIC CHARGING POLICY (CASE BY CASE) 
 
3.1 Each fee or charge (or group of similar charges) should be linked to one of the 

categories in the following table and the appropriate charging policy adopted in 
establishing and reviewing charging rates for that particular service or activity.  
Where new charges are being introduced or changes in charging policy are 
proposed, the charging policy should be made clear as part of the decision-
making process. 
 

3.2 In all cases, in determining an appropriate charging policy proper consideration 
should be given to the wider equality implications that could affect accessibility 
of council services to any groups.  

 
 

CHARGING 
POLICY 

POLICY OBJECTIVE 

Full commercial The council seeks to maximise revenue within an overall 
objective of generating as large a surplus (or a minimum 
loss) from this service. 

Full commercial with 
discounts 

As above, but with discounted concessions being given to 
enable disadvantaged groups to access the service. 

Fair charging The council seeks to maximise income but subject to a 
defined policy constraint.  This could include a 
commitment made to potential customers on an 
appropriate fee structure.  Alternatively, a full commercial 
rate may not be determinable or the council may be a 
monopoly supplier of services. 

Page 18



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
3.3 In applying the appropriate charging policy, as well as equality considerations 

typically the issues that may need to be considered in setting the level of fee 
and charge for any particular service include those set out below: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Cost recovery The council wishes to make the service generally 
available, but does not wish to allocate its own resources 
to the service. 

Cost recovery with 
discounts 

As above, but the council is prepared to subsidise the 
service to ensure disadvantaged groups have access to 
the service. 

Subsidised Council policy is to make the service widely accessible, but 
believe users of the service should make some 
contribution from their own resources.  Could also be due 
to the adverse impact a cost recovery or commercial 
charging policy would have on other council services. 

Nominal The council wishes the service to be fully available, but 
sets a charge to discourage frivolous usage. 

Free Council policy is to make the service fully available. 

Statutory Charges are set in line with legal obligations. 

CHARGING 
POLICY 

POLICY OBJECTIVE 

Full commercial • Are the charges high enough for the service to be 
profitable?  If not, consider whether the service should 
be provided. 

• Are competitors charging similar prices? 

• Does the council offer any premium in terms of service 
levels that customers would be prepared to pay more 
for? 

• How would changes in pricing structures affect demand 
for the service and potentially its profitability? 

• How does the proposed fee structure fit in with the long-
term business plan for the service? 

Fair charging • How do the charges compare to other providers of 
similar services? 

• Has the loss of income from not charging on a 
commercial basis been evaluated? 

• Is the policy constraint justifying this charging policy still 
valid? 

Cost recovery • Do charges recover the full costs, including overheads, 
capital charges and recharges? 

• Is it possible to charge on a full commercial basis and if 
so has the loss of income from not charging on a full 
commercial basis been evaluated? 

• Are Members aware of the effect on demand for this 
service from this charging policy? 

• What would be the effect of changing the policy to a 
different one e.g. subsidised?  

Subsidised • Has the cost of the subsidy been evaluated? 

• What has been the impact on demand and on service 
levels from adopting this approach? 

• Does this approach fit in with the requirements of other 
funding streams i.e. grants? 

• Is this approach legally required? 

• Is there a potential problem from frivolous use of the 
service? 

Nominal 

Free 

Statutory • Are charges in line with statutory requirements? 

• Are they set at the maximum permitted levels? 

Page 19



 

 
 

4 SUBSIDIES AND CONCESSIONS 
 
4.1 It may be appropriate to consider subsidising some services, particularly if this 

helps to achieve corporate priorities and supports local strategies and policies.  
The main reasons for charging less than full cost are set out below: 

 

• There is a sound financial and policy justification for the council tax 
payers subsidising this service. 

• The desire to encourage particular sections of the community to use 
specific services and they could not afford, or might otherwise be 
deterred by, full cost charges. 

• Charging full cost discourages or prevents uptake, which may have a 
detrimental impact on the council’s finances in the long run. 

• Use of the service is sensitive to a change in price – an increase in 
charges reduces demand and income. 

• The council incurs higher costs than other providers because the 
service is provided in a way that is appropriate and accessible for all 
sectors of the community. 

 
4.2 When considering using a subsidy, the following points should be taken into 

account: 
 

• It must clearly and directly support a corporate priority, objective, or 
 policy. 

• There is evidence to suggest that the impact of the policy can be 
measured. 

• The cost of the subsidy can be estimated and can be accommodated 
within the council’s budget, making it affordable. 

• The proposal is the most effective approach available to deliver the 
policy objective, and so can be judged to give value for money. 
 

4.3 It is recognised that in some circumstances discounts may not be appropriate 
and that, in all cases, it will be necessary to carefully consider the impact on 
income before introducing discounts or concessions to service areas which do 
not currently offer them. 

 
 
5 NEW FEES AND CHARGES 
 
5.1 Proposals for new discretionary fees and charges must be considered within 

the annual budget process or alternatively, if appropriate, submitted to Cabinet 
initially for approval as an in-year change.  Should any proposed change fall 
outside of the budget and policy framework, it would also require referral to 
Council. 

 
5.2 Proposals for new fees and charges should be analysed using the guidance in 

the appendix to this policy.  This effectively provides a brief rationale and 
business case for the proposed charge. 

 
5.3 The effects of any new charge on service usage and income generated will be 

monitored regularly over the first 12 months and formally reviewed as part of 
the following budget process. 
 

Page 20



 

 
5.4 Where new statutory fees and charges are to be introduced, or when changes 

have been notified, ideally Cabinet and/or Council should be advised of any 
significant budgetary or policy implications prior to their implementation by 
Officers, should timescales allow;  this may be done through the budget 
process.  Alternatively, any implications should be reported retrospectively 
through usual quarterly monitoring arrangements. 

 
 
6 REVIEWING FEES AND CHARGES 
 
6.1 Chief Officers and designated staff must consider charging policies and current 

levels of charge each year as part of the budget and service planning process. 
 

6.2 The general assumption (where the Council has control) is that the value of 
fees and charges will be maintained in real terms over time and increased 
annually in line with estimated inflation, as determined through the budget.  
Clearly this assumption changes, if the adopted charging policy for a particular 
activity determines otherwise. 

 
6.3 Additionally, Cabinet may decide to set income targets for specific service 

areas as part of an effort to identify efficiencies and/or generate additional 
income. 
 

6.4 Separate to the annual budgeting exercise, if there are any significant matters 
arising during the course of a year, such as in cost, market forces or service 
levels, which materially affect current service costs and revenues, then relevant 
fees and charges should be reviewed.  If it is reasonable for them to be adjusted 
in year, to keep within the budget framework, then the Chief Officer has 
delegated authority to do so, as long as any fee or charge under question was 
not explicitly approved by Members during the last budget process.  Any such 
changes must be reported to Cabinet retrospectively as part of usual quarterly 
monitoring arrangements. 
 

6.5 In all other cases (except for statutory fee change notifications covered in 5.4), 
any proposals to change fees, and/or any expected income budget shortfalls, 
must be reported initially for Cabinet’s consideration.  Referral to Council may 
also follow, depending on circumstances. Any proposal to amend significantly 
an existing fee or charge will require a full explanation and justification to be 
provided. 

 
 
7 COLLECTION OF FEES AND CHARGES 
 
7.1 Fees and charges income should be collected and accounted for in accordance 

with the Council’s Financial Regulations and any supporting instructions, 
procedures and guidance.  Wherever it is reasonable to do so, charges should 
be collected either in advance or at the point of service delivery.  Where 
charges are to be collected after service delivery has commenced, invoices will 
be issued promptly, and appropriate collection and recovery procedures 
followed. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 21



 

 
 
 
8 PUBLICATION OF FEES AND CHARGES 
 
8.1 Each service should maintain a schedule of fees and charges levied.  This 

schedule should include, but identify separately, those charges where there are 
national / external procedures or other specific procedures for determining and 
reviewing rates of charge.   

 
8.2 Generally the Council’s fees and charges should be set prior to the start of each 

financial year.  They should be widely published, including through the council’s 
website. 
 

8.3 Reasonable notice should be given to service users before any decisions to 
amend or introduce new fees and charges are implemented, together with clear 
advice on VAT, and information on any discounts or concessions available.  In 
the absence of any specific requirements, reasonable notice is defined broadly 
as one calendar month. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 22



 

 
 
 

Annex A 
 

GUIDANCE FOR NEW FEES AND CHARGES 
 

Charging Policy 

The charging policy objectives must be stated here, together with why this policy 
(Full Commercial or Fair Charging etc.) has been adopted.  The intended aims of 
the charges should also be clearly thought out and explained.  Any legal issues 
should be identified. 

 
Comparative Information 

Include here details of comparative information collected from other authorities or 
competitors etc. 

 

Financial 

Information Required Description 

Level of charge Recommended or proposed new level of 
charge. 

Start date Proposed implementation date for new 
level of charge, although it could be 
related to a future event. 

Budgeted income  Level of income to be generated from the 
new charge. 

Surplus / deficit as a percentage of cost The total cost of supplying the service 
(including recharges and other 
overheads) should be calculated and 
deducted from the income generated.  
This surplus or deficit should then be 
compared to the total cost as a 
percentage.  Calculating total cost may 
require the use of judgement and 
reasonable assumptions.  This is 
acceptable, so long as a clear audit trail 
of those assumptions is maintained. 

Surplus / deficit per usage The difference between income 
generated and the total cost of providing 
that service, divided by the expected 
number of users of that service. 

 

Impact Assessment 

Any proposals must identify likely impact on the service’s users including; who 
currently benefits from the service, the effects on them of any changes and who 
will benefit from new exemptions and discounts together with how demand and 
usage is expected to change.  Equality issues must specifically be considered and 
reported. 

 
Impact on Other Areas 

The likely consequences in terms of reduced or increased demand for other 
council services must be identified here as well as any extra costs to other 
services.  Equality issues must specifically be considered and reported. 

 

Page 23



 

 

 

 

 
Method of Collection 

Proposals for new charges must identify what collection methods will be used.  If 
this is a change in current arrangements it will need to identify the following: 

• What the likely impact is on the rate and costs of collection; 

• What account has been taken of how low income users can pay; and 

• How cost effective will the new methods be? 

 
Alternatives 

Explain here the other measures that have been considered instead of, or as well 
as, the proposed charge (cost cutting, reducing charges, sponsorship etc.). 

 
Consultation 

Include here the extent of consultation conducted, which will be dependent upon 
the impact of fee and/or charge, and the results of that consultation. 

 

Page 24



Licensing Fees 2026/27 effective from XXXXXXXXXX 
 
Taxi and Private Hire Licence Fee 

2025/26 
Licence Fee 

2026/27 

Dual/PH/HC Driver’s Licence Renewal (annual) £130.00 £134.00 

Dual/PH/HC Driver's Licence Renewal (3 yearly) £336.00 £336.00 

Dual/PH/HC Driver’s Licence New (annual) £139.00 £143.00 

Dual/PH/HC Driver’s Licence New (3 yearly)  £354.00 £362.00 

Duplicate Driver’s Badge £17.00 £17.00 

Licensed Vehicle Test Fee (Hackney Carriage or Private Hire) £64.00 £64.00 

Hackney Carriage Licence (annual) £254.00 £233.00 

Hackney Carriage Licence (6 monthly) £127.00 n/a 

Hackney Carriage Licence (4 monthly) £85.00 n/a 

Licence Plate/Door-Sign (Hackney Carriage or Private Hire) £10.00 £10.00 

Private Hire Vehicle Licence New (annual) £217.00 £211.00 

Private Hire Vehicle licence New (6 monthly) £109.00 n/a 

Private Hire Vehicle Licence New (4 monthly) £55.00 n/a 

Private Hire Vehicle Licence Renewal (annual) £209.00 n/a 

Private Hire Vehicle licence Renewal (6 monthly) £105.00 n/a 

Private Hire Vehicle Licence Renewal (4 monthly) £53.00 n/a 

Change of Vehicle  £59.00 £68.00 

Transfer of Ownership £44.00 £46.00 

Administration Fee £50.00 £52.00 

Private Hire Operators Licence 1 year / 5 year 1 year/ 5 year 

1 Vehicle £192.00/£820.00 £199.00/£855.00 

2-10 Vehicles £230.00/£937.00 £249.00/£1106.00 

11-25 Vehicles £278.00/£1237.00 £309.00/£1460.00 

26 Vehicles and over £374.00/£1679.00 £417.00/£1962.00 

   

Misc Licences Fee 2025/26 Fees 2026/27 

Boatman's Licence  £122.00 £121.00 

Scrap Metal Dealers Mobile Licence (3 yearly) £335.00 £354.00 

Scrap Metal Dealer Site Licence (3 yearly) £497.00 £542.00 

Pleasure Boat Licence £215.00 £207.00 

Registration in Skin Piercing/Tattooing (Persons) £167.00 £181.00 

Registration in Skin Piercing/Tattooing (Premises) £210.00 £242.00 

Registration of dealer in second-hand goods £97.00 £96.00 

Registration of dealer in second-hand goods - market stalls £97.00 £96.00 

Sex Shop £218.00 £209.00 

Sex Shop renewal £218.00 £209.00 

Sexual Entertainment Venue £352.00 £310.00 

Pavement Licence £350.00/£500.00 £350.00/£500.00 

 

 
 

 
 

Page 25



Type of Licence Period in Years Part A Part B Cost

A- Selling Animals 1 309£      119£      428£      
A- Selling Animals 2 309£      312£      621£      
HB-Home Boarding 1 309£      119£      428£      
HB-Home Boarding 2 309£      312£      621£      
DD-Dog Daycare 1 309£      119£      428£      
DD-Dog Daycare 2 309£      312£      621£      
CCK-Commercial Cattery / Kennel 1 309£      119£      428£      
CCK-Commercial Cattery / Kennel 2 309£      312£      621£      
B-Breeding Dogs 1 321£      119£      440£      
B-Breeding Dogs 2 321£      288£      609£      
B-Breeding Dogs 3 321£      468£      789£      
H-Hiring Horses 1 309£      119£      428£      
H-Hiring Horses 2 309£      328£      637£      
D-Dangerous Wild Animals 1 333£      54£        387£      
E-Exhibiting Animals 3 407£      279£      686£      
Operating a Zoo 4 1,173£   

Type of Licence Period in Years Part A Part B Cost

A- Selling Animals 1 231£      119£      350£      
A- Selling Animals 2 231£      288£      519£      
A- Selling Animals 3 231£      442£      673£      
HB-Home Boarding 1 206£      119£      325£      
HB-Home Boarding 2 206£      288£      494£      
HB-Home Boarding 3 206£      456£      662£      
DD-Dog Daycare 1 206£      119£      325£      
DD-Dog Daycare 2 206£      288£      494£      
DD-Dog Daycare 3 206£      456£      662£      
CCK-Commercial Cattery / Kennel 1 231£      119£      350£      
CCK-Commercial Cattery / Kennel 2 231£      312£      543£      
CCK-Commercial Cattery / Kennel 3 231£      506£      737£      
B-Breeding Dogs 1 206£      119£      325£      
B-Breeding Dogs 2 206£      288£      494£      
B-Breeding Dogs 3 206£      481£      687£      
H-Hiring Horses 1 255£      119£      374£      
H-Hiring Horses 2 255£      349£      604£      
H-Hiring Horses 3 255£      440£      695£      
D-Dangerous Wild Animals 1 280£      80£        360£      
E-Exhibiting Animals 3 304£      358£      662£      
Operating a Zoo 6 1,344£   

New application.

Renewal application.

Animal Licence Fees 1st Aprli 2026 - 31st March 2027.

Page 26



Request Cost

Pre-inspection visit (on request) 175£      
Appeal against a rating 175£      
Re-inspection 106£      
Variation of a Licence 47£        

Miscellaneous Fees.

Page 27



LICENSING COMMITTEE  

 
Government Consultation - Taxi and PHV Licensing 

 
5 February 2026 

 
Report of Licensing Manager 

 
 

PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
To provide members with information regarding a Department for Transport (DfT) consultation 
on making all local transport authorities (LTAs) in England responsible for taxi and private hire 
vehicle (PHV) licensing. 
Members may wish to make additional comments to be considered part of the Officer 
response, prior to final comments and approval by Council Business Committee. 
 

This report is public.  

 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS  
 
(1) That members consider any additional comments to the Officer response prior 

to final comments and approval by Councils Business Committee. 
 
1.0 Introduction 
 
1.1 The Department for Transport is seeking feedback on the potential benefits and 

challenges of making all local transport authorities (LTAs) in England responsible for 
taxi and private hire vehicle (PHV) licensing. 

 
The consultation focuses on the impact this would have on: 

 
• local authorities 
• taxi and PHV businesses 
• passengers 

 
As taxi and PHV licensing is devolved in all UK nations, this proposal would only apply 
in England. 
 

1.2 This consultation follows publication of the English devolution white paper by the 
Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) in December 
2024. The white paper sets out the government’s proposal to change the administrative 
level of licensing for taxis and PHVs to facilitate better and safer transport services for 
the public. 

 
1.3 Also set out in the English devolution white paper, government has committed to a 

programme of local government reorganisation (LGR). The ambition is to move to a 
single tier of local government in all parts of the country. It is thought this would create 
simpler structures, strengthen disjointed services and help councils pursue 

Page 28Agenda Item 7



efficiencies. 
 
A statutory invitation has been issued to all councils in 2-tier areas and small 
neighbouring unitary authorities to develop proposals for unitary local government, 
which will bring together lower and upper tier local government services in new unitary 
authorities. This means that services, including licensing, currently delivered by district 
councils would be delivered by new unitary councils. 

  
Therefore, even if the proposals set out in the consultation do not proceed, the 
licensing authority in most areas will change. This is because, where 
implemented, LGR would move the licensing authority from district councils and any 
small neighbouring unitary councils within proposals to the successor unitary councils, 
resulting in fewer licensing authorities than at present. 

 
 
2.0 Consultation Details 
 
2.1 In most parts of England, councils are currently responsible for regulating the taxi and 

PHV sector, apart from in London, where the Mayor and Transport for London (TfL) 
are responsible for licensing. In areas where there is a single tier of local government, 
the responsibility lies with the relevant unitary council, while in areas where there are 
2 tiers of local government, the responsibility lies with district councils. This means 
there are currently 263 licensing authorities in England. 

 

• 164 district councils  

• 62 unitary authorities  

• 36 metropolitan councils  

• Transport for London (TfL) 
 
2.2 As outlined in the English devolution white paper (EDWP), there are concerns about 

the challenges caused by out-of-area working, where people licence away from the 
area in which they intend to work. English Devolution White Paper: Power and 
partnership: Foundations for growth - GOV.UK 

 These concerns were shared by Baroness Casey in her National audit on group-
based child sexual exploitation and abuse report. National Audit on Group-based 
Child Sexual Exploitation and Abuse - GOV.UK 

 
2.3 The government is exploring options for reforming taxi and PHV legislation to 

address the challenges caused by out-of-area working. As part of this, the EDWP 
included a commitment to consult on whether to make all local transport authorities 
(LTAs), including strategic authorities – who are the bodies that oversee local 
transport planning – responsible for taxi and PHV licensing. The Casey report 
reaffirmed this commitment. 

 
2.4 The consultation document presents the benefits and challenges that the Department 

for Transport (DfT) has identified in making LTAs responsible for taxi 
and PHV licensing. 

 
2.5 The full consultation document is attached at Appendix 1. 
 
 
3.0 Details of Consultation 
 
3.1 The consultation period will run from 8 January 2026 until 1 April 2026. A full list of 

Page 29

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/english-devolution-white-paper-power-and-partnership-foundations-for-growth
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/english-devolution-white-paper-power-and-partnership-foundations-for-growth
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-audit-on-group-based-child-sexual-exploitation-and-abuse
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-audit-on-group-based-child-sexual-exploitation-and-abuse


questions asked as part of the consultation can be seen from page 26 of the 
consultation document.  
 
The following are applicable to Local Licensing Authorities, like Lancaster City Council 
who are currently responsible for taxi and private hire vehicle licensing. 

 
 If all local transport authorities were made responsible for taxi and private hire vehicle 

licensing as proposed, would your local authority expect:  
 

Question 1: Any one-off costs? If so, what would the one-off costs to your authority be 
for? How much would the costs be?  
Please provide a monetary value in pounds, if possible, otherwise the resource time 
required in hours.  
 
Question 2: Any ongoing costs? If so, what would the ongoing costs to your authority 
be for? How much would the additional costs be?  
Please provide a monetary value in pounds, if possible, otherwise the resource time 
required in hours.  
 
Question 3: Any one-off savings? If so, what would the savings to your authority be 
for? How much would the savings be?  
Please provide a monetary value in pounds, if possible, otherwise the resource time 
required.  
 
Question 4: Any ongoing savings? If so, what would the savings to your authority be 
for? How much would the savings be?  
Please provide a monetary value in pounds, if possible, otherwise the resource time 
required. 
 
Consultation questions for all respondents 
 
Consultation questions on proposals  
Question 13: Should all local transport authorities be responsible for taxi and private 
hire vehicle licensing? Why?  
 
Consultation questions on economic benefits and costs  
Question 14: Are there wider economic benefits in making all local transport authorities 
responsible for taxi and private hire vehicle licensing? If so, what are they?  
 
Question 15: Are there other costs in making all local transport authorities responsible 
for taxi and private hire vehicle licensing? If so, what are they? 
 
A summary of responses. Including the next steps will be published in due course on 
gov.uk. 

 
 
4.0 Consultation Response 
 
4.1 The Officers prepared response(s) to Q1-4, 13, 14 and 15 are attached at Appendix 

2. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 30



5.0 Conclusion 
 
5.1 The Department for Transport is seeking feedback on the potential benefits and 

challenges of making all local transport authorities (LTAs) in England responsible for 
taxi and private hire vehicle (PHV) licensing.  

 
5.2 Officers have prepared responses to the consultation questions; members of 

Licensing Committee may wish to include additional comments prior to approval by 
the Councils Business Committee. 

 
 

CONCLUSION OF IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
(including Health & Safety, Equality & Diversity, Human Rights, Community Safety, 
Sustainability and Rural Proofing): 
 
None 
 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
None 
 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
Financial Services have provided the information contained in the response in relation to 
service costs. 
  

OTHER RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS, such as Human Resources, Information Services, 
Property, Open Spaces 
 
None. 
 

SECTION 151 OFFICER’S COMMENTS 
 
None. 
 

MONITORING OFFICER’S COMMENTS 
 
None. 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Contact Officer:  Miss Jennifer Curtis 
Telephone:  01524 582732 
Email:  jcurtis@lancaster.gov.uk 
Ref:  DfTconsult2026 

  
 

Page 31



Open consultation

Local transport authorities and
the licensing of taxis and
private hire vehicles
Published 8 January 2026

Applies to England

Department
for Transport

Contents

Foreword

Introduction

Local transport authorities and local transport plans

Proposed changes in local government

Making all local transport authorities responsible for taxi and PHV licensing
Simplifying the regulation of taxis and PHVs

Impact on licensing authorities

Impact on the taxi and PHV sector

Impact on passenger experience
How to respond

What will happen next

Full list of questions

Freedom of Information

Page 32

https://www.gov.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/department-for-transport


Confidentiality and data protection
Page 33



© Crown copyright 2026

This publication is licensed under the terms of the Open Government Licence v3.0 except where
otherwise stated. To view this licence, visit nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-
licence/version/3 or write to the Information Policy Team, The National Archives, Kew, London
TW9 4DU, or email: psi@nationalarchives.gov.uk.

Where we have identified any third party copyright information you will need to obtain
permission from the copyright holders concerned.

This publication is available at https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/local-transport-
authorities-and-the-licensing-of-taxis-and-private-hire-vehicles/local-transport-authorities-and-
the-licensing-of-taxis-and-private-hire-vehicles

Page 34

https://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3
https://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3
mailto:psi@nationalarchives.gov.uk


Foreword 
Taxis and private hire vehicles (PHVs) are an integral part of local transport
networks. They are used by everyone in our communities, but especially
low-income young women and those with mobility difficulties. Taxis and
PHVs enable people to access the businesses, schools and hospitals in
their area, provide the important ‘first-and-last mile’ of longer journeys on
other modes and are often vital for late-night travel or reaching places not
served by public transport.

People today do not live their lives within the boundaries of local authorities,
they cross these invisible borders frequently, living in one area but working
and socialising in others. 

With evolving technology, people now book services more flexibly, but
safety and reliability remain key priorities. All authorities must only grant
licences to those who are fit and proper to hold one, or if the vehicle is safe
to carry the public. Despite this, out-of-area working, where drivers license
in one area but work elsewhere, is a major challenge. While most drivers
are law-abiding and simply seeking efficient entry into the sector, this
practice complicates enforcement and raises concerns about inconsistent
licensing standards across local authorities. 

There have been longstanding calls for reform of the legislation that
regulates the sector, and we are keen to make progress. Since coming into
government, we have been carefully considering how to improve the
regulation of the sector.

We previously committed to consulting on giving all local transport
authorities responsibility for taxi and PHV licensing, as outlined in the
English Devolution White Paper
(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/english-devolution-white-paper-power-
and-partnership-foundations-for-growth). This could help to reduce the
occurrence of out-of-area working, reduce the factors that induce it, and
better match enforcement resources, though we recognise it may be
controversial particularly for those already holding this role who work
tirelessly to make the existing system succeed. 

Baroness Casey’s recommendation reaffirmed our view that robust
standards in safety must be applied by all licensing authorities. We
committed to legislate to tackle the inconsistent standards of taxi and PHV
driver licensing and have introduced an amendment to the English
Devolution and Community Empowerment Bill to enable the setting of
national minimum standards. We will continue to consider a range of other
options, including out-of-area working and enforcement, seeking the best
overall outcomes for passenger safety. 

Page 35

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/english-devolution-white-paper-power-and-partnership-foundations-for-growth
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/english-devolution-white-paper-power-and-partnership-foundations-for-growth
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/english-devolution-white-paper-power-and-partnership-foundations-for-growth


This consultation is seeking views on just one potential, but incredibly
significant, option to identify the right level of regulating this form of
transport. Our work continues to explore how best to change the underlying
legislation to move towards a modern, consistent and passenger-focused
licensing framework that supports both public safety and the needs of the
sector. 

Lilian Greenwood
Parliamentary Under-Secretary of State, Minister for Local Transport

Introduction
Taxis and private hire vehicles play a vital part in local transport, connecting
residents to the local economy and enabling businesses and residents to
reach wider transport networks. All social groups use taxis and PHVs.
Groups that use them the most are low-income young women, amongst
whom car ownership is low, and those with mobility difficulties.

Both taxis and PHVs are vital parts of local transport. The most notable
difference between taxis and PHVs is that taxis can ‘ply for hire’ (stand at a
taxi rank or be hailed in the street) and are available for immediate hire,
while PHVs must be booked in advance through a licensed PHV operator.
PHVs include a range of vehicles such as minicabs, executive cars and
limousines.

The way in which taxis are regulated is rooted in the Town Police Clauses
Act 1847. As well as providing the powers to regulate taxis, it defined ‘who’
should do this. The regulation of private hire vehicles (PHVs) has naturally
followed the same path.

In most parts of England, councils are currently responsible for regulating
the taxi and PHV sector, apart from in London, where the Mayor and
Transport for London (TfL) are responsible for licensing. In areas where
there is a single tier of local government, the responsibility lies with the
relevant unitary council, while in areas where there are 2 tiers of local
government, the responsibility lies with district councils. This means there
are currently 263 licensing authorities in England.

Though more modern legislation has followed the 1847 act and changed
‘how’ the sector is regulated, it has not considered ‘who’ in local government
should regulate the sector. The lives of people who use taxis and PHVs, the
vehicles used and the way people engage services could not have been
envisaged nearly 200 years ago. While little may have substantively
changed for much of this period, the adoption of new technology by
passengers and the sector in the last 10 years, particularly for PHVs, has

Page 36



changed immeasurably. The appropriate level of ‘local’ licensing does not
appear to have been considered in detail since its inception.

As outlined in the English devolution white paper
(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/english-devolution-white-paper-power-
and-partnership-foundations-for-growth) (EDWP), there are concerns about the
challenges caused by out-of-area working, where people license away from
the area in which they intend to work. These concerns were shared by
Baroness Casey in her National audit on group-based child sexual
exploitation and abuse report
(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-audit-on-group-based-child-
sexual-exploitation-and-abuse).

The government is exploring options for reforming taxi and PHV legislation
to address the challenges caused by out-of-area working. As part of this, the
EDWP included a commitment to consult on whether to make all local
transport authorities (LTAs), including strategic authorities – who are the
bodies that oversee local transport planning – responsible for taxi and PHV
licensing. The government’s response to the Casey Report
(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-audit-on-group-based-child-
sexual-exploitation-and-abuse) reaffirmed this commitment. The term ‘strategic
authority’ is used throughout this consultation to refer to current and future
combined authorities and combined county authorities.

The EDWP also set out the government’s devolution ambitions for England.
Over time, those proposals could lead to changes in many parts of England,
excluding London, in terms of which local government body is the LTA.
Given this, the consultation document focuses on the principle of whether
LTAs, as the body responsible for producing and delivering local transport
plans, should be responsible for taxi and PHV licensing. This document
presents the benefits and challenges that the Department for Transport
(DfT) has identified in making LTAs responsible for taxi and PHV licensing.

As outlined in the white paper, the department believes that administering
taxi and PHV licensing across the larger footprint of LTAs would simplify the
way the PHV sector provides the services that passengers demand and
enhance compliance and safety. This should increase the consistency of
standards and enable more effective use of enforcement powers across a
whole functional economic area. Greater economies of scale should also
enable improvements to the efficiency of taxi and PHV licensing. Together,
these benefits should reduce the factors that induce people to license out of
their usual working area.

This is a public consultation, and we encourage responses from everyone
with an interest in taxis and PHVs, including:

passengers
safety groups

Page 37

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/english-devolution-white-paper-power-and-partnership-foundations-for-growth
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/english-devolution-white-paper-power-and-partnership-foundations-for-growth
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/english-devolution-white-paper-power-and-partnership-foundations-for-growth
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-audit-on-group-based-child-sexual-exploitation-and-abuse
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-audit-on-group-based-child-sexual-exploitation-and-abuse
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-audit-on-group-based-child-sexual-exploitation-and-abuse
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-audit-on-group-based-child-sexual-exploitation-and-abuse
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-audit-on-group-based-child-sexual-exploitation-and-abuse
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-audit-on-group-based-child-sexual-exploitation-and-abuse
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-audit-on-group-based-child-sexual-exploitation-and-abuse


local authorities
the taxi and PHV sector and representative bodies

As taxi and PHV licensing is devolved in all UK nations, this proposal would
only apply in England. The proposal does not extend to London, where TfL
is the LTA and is already responsible for taxi and PHV licensing.

Local transport authorities and local
transport plans
Outside of London, local transport authorities (LTAs) are currently county
councils and unitary authorities, except in areas where a strategic authority
sits above them. There are currently 70 LTAs in England (see map 1), this
number may change as a result of the local government reorganisation and
English devolution programmes.

Under the Transport Act 2000, LTAs are responsible for formulating
transport policies and publishing them as a local transport plan. These
statutory plans enable an LTA to make strategic planning decisions on local
transport provision by setting out their strategy for transport in their area
(including transport to and from the area) and how they plan to achieve it.
LTAs’ policies must promote ‘safe, integrated, efficient and economic
transport’ and must have regard in particular to the needs of:

disabled people

older people
people with mobility problems

LTA areas are intended to reflect the public’s travel patterns in those areas.

The role LTAs should have in regulating local transport in their areas was
acknowledged in the English devolution white paper, which also included a
commitment to empower LTAs to regulate on-street micromobility schemes
(like hire bikes), so local areas can shape them around their needs.

Page 38



Bedford

Bournemouth,
Christchurch

and Poole

Bracknell
Forest

Brighton
and Hove

Buckinghamshire

Cambridgeshire
and Peterborough

Central
Bedfordshire

Cheshire
EastCheshire West

and Chester

Cornwall
(Including

Isles of Scilly)

Cumberland

Devon and
Torbay

Dorset

East Midlands

East Sussex

EssexGloucestershire

Greater
Lincolnshire

Greater
Manchester

Hampshire

Herefordshire

Hertfordshire

Hull
and

East Yorkshire

Isle of Wight

Kent

Lancashire

Leicester

Leicestershire

Liverpool City
Region

Luton

Medway

Milton Keynes

Norfolk

North East

North
Northamptonshire

Oxfordshire

Plymouth

Portsmouth

Reading

Rutland
Shropshire

Slough

Somerset

South
Yorkshire

Southampton

Southend-on-Sea

Staffordshire

Stoke-on-Trent

Suffolk

Surrey

Swindon

Tees Valley

Telford and
Wrekin

Thurrock

Warrington

Warwickshire

West
Berkshire

West
Midlands

West
Northamptonshire

West Sussex

West
Yorkshire

Westmorland
and Furness

Wiltshire

Windsor and
Maidenhead

Wokingham

Worcestershire

York and
North

Yorkshire

North
Somerset

West of
England

Contains boundary data sourced from ONS under the Open Government License V3.0Map Date:  12th September 2025

Map Created By:  Roads Geography & GIS Data Team

2025
Local Transport Authorities

0 10050 Miles

Isles of Scilly

Map 1: local transport authorities in England

Proposed changes in local government

Page 39



There are currently 263 taxi and PHV licensing authorities. This consists of:

164 district councils

62 unitary authorities
36 metropolitan councils

TfL

This consultation is on the principle that taxi and PHV licensing should be
the responsibility of LTAs, which means strategic authorities where they
exist currently or in the future. This will enable larger licensing authorities
and the benefits this brings. Strategic authorities, which are formed of a
number of councils working together, cover sensible geographies comprised
of areas that people recognise and work in. A strategic authority will provide
coordination on issues which cross local authority boundaries within its
area, including transport, as the LTA. The ultimate ambition of English
devolution is for universal coverage of strategic authorities. Once this
ambition is realised, it would mean that, unless this consultation proposal
goes ahead, no LTAs would be responsible for taxi and PHV licensing apart
from TfL.

As also set out in the English devolution white paper, government has
committed to an ambitious programme of local government reorganisation
(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/english-devolution-white-paper-power-
and-partnership-foundations-for-growth/english-devolution-white-
paper#communities) (LGR). The ambition is to move to a single tier of local
government in all parts of the country. This would create simpler structures,
strengthen disjointed services and help councils pursue efficiencies.

A statutory invitation has been issued to all councils in 2-tier areas and
small neighbouring unitary authorities to develop proposals for unitary local
government, which will bring together lower and upper tier local government
services in new unitary authorities. This means that services, including
licensing, currently delivered by district councils would be delivered by new
unitary councils.

Therefore, even if this proposal does not proceed, the licensing authority in
most areas will change. This is because, where implemented, LGR would
move the licensing authority from district councils and any small
neighbouring unitary councils within proposals to the successor unitary
councils, resulting in fewer licensing authorities than at present. See local
government reorganising policy and programme updates for more
information about LGR (https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/local-
government-reorganisation-policy-and-programme-updates).

What proposed changes in local government would mean if licensing
moved to LTAs

Page 40

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/english-devolution-white-paper-power-and-partnership-foundations-for-growth/english-devolution-white-paper#communities
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/english-devolution-white-paper-power-and-partnership-foundations-for-growth/english-devolution-white-paper#communities
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/english-devolution-white-paper-power-and-partnership-foundations-for-growth/english-devolution-white-paper#communities
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/english-devolution-white-paper-power-and-partnership-foundations-for-growth/english-devolution-white-paper#communities
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/english-devolution-white-paper-power-and-partnership-foundations-for-growth/english-devolution-white-paper#communities
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/local-government-reorganisation-policy-and-programme-updates
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/local-government-reorganisation-policy-and-programme-updates
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/local-government-reorganisation-policy-and-programme-updates
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/local-government-reorganisation-policy-and-programme-updates


This consultation is on the principle of whether taxi and PHV licensing
should be a function of all LTAs, regardless of which local government body
has this role. Where a strategic authority (SA) is in place, it will be the LTA.
For areas undergoing LGR, if there is not an existing strategic authority, any
new unitary councils that are established will become the LTA until an SA is
in place.

Should the decision be to make all LTAs responsible for taxi and PHV
licensing, its implementation would take into account progress with the
government’s English devolution and LGR programmes and obtaining the
legislative powers to move the licensing function where needed.

Making all local transport authorities
responsible for taxi and PHV licensing
We believe there are significant benefits in all local transport authorities
(LTAs) being responsible for taxi and PHV licensing, enabling the sector to
be fully considered and integrated in local transport plans. Taxis and PHVs
are an integral part of local transport networks and are particularly relied
upon by those with mobility difficulties. There is a strong case for taxi and
PHV licensing to sit with the body responsible for local transport planning,
alongside other modes of local transport.

People do not generally live their lives within the boundaries of local
authorities. Their lives will take them across borders frequently, they may
live in one area, work in another and socialise in a third. LTAs, however,
better reflect local travel patterns, particularly in the case of strategic
authorities, which generally cover much larger footprints across whole
functional economic areas and reflect travel-to-work patterns and local
labour markets.

Making LTAs responsible for taxi and PHV licensing would allow them to
introduce relevant policies which align with their local transport plans and
support the wider local transport strategy for their areas. It would also mean
that the LTA has direct control, rather than influence, over policies such as
emissions standards, as well as charging infrastructure provision, to support
its overall transport decarbonisation strategy for the area.

All metropolitan councils are the taxi and PHV licensing authority for their
area and already sit within a strategic authority, which is the LTA for that
area. If this proposal is not taken forward, that position would remain
unchanged. Metropolitan council areas are arguably the locations where
this proposal could have the greatest benefit.

Page 41



In large metropolitan areas with several licensing authorities, such as the
Liverpool City Region which has 6 (see map 2), taxis and PHVs will
frequently work across multiple authority areas when carrying passengers,
just as the buses do. Designating LTAs such as Liverpool City Region
Combined Authority with the responsibility for taxis and PHVs would mean
that taxis and PHVs would be considered alongside all their other local
transport responsibilities.

As well as helping to ensure taxis and PHVs are an integral part of transport
planning, making all LTAs responsible for licensing would also see a
significant reduction in the number of licensing authorities. There are
currently 263 licensing authorities compared to 70 LTAs. This would have
the effect, in many places, of increasing the size of taxi and PHV licensing
areas, which would:

greatly improve consistency in licensing standards

remove the factors that can induce a driver to license away from the area
in which they intend to work

increase in area working

Increased ‘in-area’ working would better match resourcing and compliance
costs and enable more effective use of existing enforcement powers. The
government’s ambition to have a strategic authority in every part of England
has the potential to deliver the smallest number of taxi and PHV licensing
authorities and so enable the greatest benefits in terms of consistency in
standards, more in-area working and a more efficient taxi and PHV licensing
regime. The impact on trade and passengers is discussed in detail later in
this document.

Page 42



Map 2: Liverpool City Region and its current constituent licensing
authorities

Simplifying the regulation of taxis and
PHVs

Page 43



Taxis can only ply for hire or stand at a taxi rank in the area (or zone) in
which they are licensed, but can undertake pre-booked journeys anywhere.
PHV journeys must always be pre-booked, and as with taxis, these journeys
can be anywhere. The PHV driver, their vehicle and the PHV operator must
all be licensed by the same authority. For PHVs, this is known as the ‘triple
licensing lock’. In both cases, journeys will frequently cross local authority
borders.

The ability of taxis and PHVs to undertake bookings outside of their
licensing authority’s area is important to meet the demands of the travelling
public. There is nothing inherently unsafe about this practice.

Statutory guidance to licensing authorities
(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/statutory-taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-
standards) issued by the department in 2020 outlines how they should carry
out their licensing function to protect children and vulnerable adults, and
means that safeguarding requirements are broadly similar across England.
For example, all applicants for a taxi or PHV driver licence are subject to the
highest level of criminality checks – an enhanced Disclosure and Barring
Service check with checks of the adults’ and children’s barred lists.

The Taxis and Private Hire Vehicles (Safeguarding and Road Safety) Act
2022 (https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2022/14/contents/enacted) means that
a driver who has a licence refused, suspended, or revoked for safeguarding,
road safety or discrimination reasons cannot obtain a licence elsewhere
without that relevant information being known and considered by any
licensing authority that received a new application.

Significant numbers of drivers working ‘out-of-area’, licensing with a
different authority to the one in which they predominantly work, cause
challenges in regulating the sector. A significant reduction in the number of
licensing authorities is likely to considerably reduce the amount of out-of-
area working, diminishing the challenges it presents to licensing authorities.

As well as better, more integrated transport planning, making LTAs
responsible for licensing would create a situation where more vehicles and
their drivers are operating more of the time in the area in which they are
licensed, leading to a reduction in out-of-area working.

A significant reduction in the number of licensing authorities would mean
there are fewer boundaries. This could potentially mitigate, but not
eradicate, the negative aspects of other policy solutions to address the
challenges of out-of-area working that are currently being considered, such
as the imposition of journey restrictions, to secure the best overall outcomes
for passenger safety.

Page 44

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/statutory-taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-standards
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/statutory-taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-standards
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/statutory-taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-standards
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2022/14/contents/enacted
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2022/14/contents/enacted


Licensing requirements

The reasons why a taxi or PHV driver may obtain a licence from an
authority in which they do not intend to work are varied and complex.

The time and cost taken to gain a licence have been given as factors that
induce ‘out-of-area’ working. Overly burdensome, poorly targeted and
expensive requirements by some licensing authorities are key to the
decisions made. Restrictive vehicle requirements, such as a maximum
vehicle age at first licensing, and a lack of available opportunities to
complete mandatory training and testing, can both prevent or, at best, delay
new entrants from obtaining the necessary licences and from earning an
income. Licensees may well ‘invest’ in higher fees if they can reap a return
on that by working sooner.

Action has been taken by the department to increase consistency in
licensing requirements through the publishing of guidance. The government
has issued extensive guidance to licensing authorities
(https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/licensing-of-taxis-and-phvs-for-local-
authorities-in-england), outlining how they should carry out their licensing
function. A reduction in the number of licensing authorities, while
inconsistencies might still exist between authorities, would mean there
would be fewer policies for there to be variations between (for example, the
current 70 LTAs rather than the current 263 licensing authorities).

We would expect LTAs taking on the licensing function for the first time,
having considered the department’s guidance, to look afresh at what its
requirements and policies would be. Achieving a significantly greater level of
consistency would reduce the incentive and ability to shop around for a PHV
licence. Greater variation in taxi vehicle requirements may continue, but
they would still only be able to stand and ply for hire in the area (or zone) in
which they are licensed.

Under the current structure, implementing a common set of standards
across an area requires all licensing authorities within it to agree to them.
Licensing authorities are expected to consult on significant changes in
policy requirements. In Greater Manchester, for example, such a process
would require each of the ten licensing authorities to consider the responses
received and reach a reasonable position which may be different from its
neighbours. Should Greater Manchester Combined Authority be the
licensing body, it would need to consult only once and its policies would
apply throughout. We expect this reduction in administration would reduce
the licensing authority costs and fees to the sector.

Making licensing the responsibility of larger authorities would also create
opportunities for those authorities to take advantage of economies of scale

Page 45

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/licensing-of-taxis-and-phvs-for-local-authorities-in-england
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/licensing-of-taxis-and-phvs-for-local-authorities-in-england
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/licensing-of-taxis-and-phvs-for-local-authorities-in-england


and create more specialised and efficient taxi and PHV licensing teams. For
example, each of Liverpool City Region’s 6 councils license between 440 to
5,235 vehicles and 542 to 5,916 drivers. Should licensing move to the LTA
(Liverpool City Region Combined Authority), it would license more than
13,100 vehicles and 16,200 drivers, bringing economies of scale to the
administration of the taxi and PHV licensing regime.

Compliance and enforcement powers
Local authorities can prosecute breaches of taxi and PHV law via the court
system, such as illegal plying for hire, regardless of whether they issued the
licence, or the taxi or PHV was unlicensed. A licensing authority has the
power to suspend or revoke a taxi or PHV driver, vehicle or PHV operator
licence only when it granted the licence.

The decision by some drivers to license ‘out-of-area’ can lead to a
significant number of drivers and vehicles licensed with one authority
operating in other licensing authorities’ areas.

While safety standards in licensing requirements are consistently high
across England, a licensing authority would not generally be able to
undertake compliance checks or suspend or revoke the driver, vehicle or
PHV operator licence where unsafe activity is identified, unless it issued the
licences. However, licensing authorities must report safeguarding, road
safety and discrimination concerns in respect of drivers to the authority that
licensed the driver and that authority must consider whether to suspend or
revoke the licence.

The statutory guidance recommends that licensing authorities should jointly
authorise officers from other authorities
(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/statutory-taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-
standards) so that compliance and enforcement action can be taken against
licensees from outside their area. Such an agreement would set out the
range of powers available, but these could include the ability to undertake
compliance checks and immediately suspend a driver’s licence in the
interests of public safety. The department acknowledges that this would only
apply to drivers and vehicles licensed by the authority with which the
agreement is with and that it might be challenging for a licensing authority to
seek co-authorisation of licensing officers to exercise these powers from
every relevant licensing authority. Nonetheless, this is an important existing
tool to mitigate the opportunities for drivers to evade regulation.

Should the decision be taken to move licensing to all LTAs this would make
this process of joint authorisation more effective. Leeds City Council, for
example, would currently need 4 agreements in place to have powers over
licensees licensed by adjoining authorities. If strategic authorities, as the

Page 46

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/statutory-taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-standards
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/statutory-taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-standards
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/statutory-taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-standards
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/statutory-taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-standards


LTA, were responsible for licensing, 3 of those current authorities would be
within the West Yorkshire Combined Authority (WYCA) and additionally,
Calderdale Borough Council would also be included. A single joint
authorisation agreement with York and North Yorkshire Combined Authority
would mean that both would have effective powers to ensure compliance of
over 17,800 vehicles and 22,500 drivers.

WYCA entering into 4 agreements with its neighbours, York and North
Yorkshire Combined Authority, South Yorkshire Combined Authority, Greater
Manchester Combined Authority and Lancashire Combined County
Authority, would mean it has powers over 42,500 vehicles and over 54,000
drivers in its region.

Larger licensing areas would mean more drivers and vehicles operating in
the area in which they are licensed (work ‘in area’) more often. As a result,
the licensing authority’s full compliance and enforcement powers would be
applicable to more, if not all, of the sector operating in the area without the
need for joint authorisation agreements. Licensing authorities would then
have greater ability to protect the travelling public directly if there were
circumstances that required immediate licensing action.

Compliance and enforcement resourcing

Expanding licensing areas by making LTAs responsible for licensing is
expected to better match resources raised through licensing fees with
compliance activities, as more licensees work ‘in area’. It would also create
opportunities for them to take advantage of economies of scale and create
more specialised and efficient taxi and PHV licensing teams.

Specialised teams would have the flexibility to target their compliance and
enforcement activity in areas where concerns are identified or in response
to spikes in demand, such as those associated with large sporting or
entertainment events, which, under the current framework, frequently
require additional sector capacity from nearby areas – out-of-area working.

Impact on licensing authorities
The local government body that is the LTA could change, either as a result
of the creation of new strategic authorities or local government
reorganisation. If this proposal does not proceed, and taxi and PHV
licensing is not moved to all LTAs, the establishment of new unitary
authorities through LGR would still result in a change to existing licensing

Page 47



authorities in most places. For this reason, it is difficult to say with certainty
what the impact would be on authorities that currently carry out licensing.

Nevertheless, this proposal only relates to the taxi and PHV licensing
function, so if taken forward, it would mean that in future, there would be
instances where taxi and PHV licensing would be split off from the wider
licensing function, such as alcohol and gambling (which are static
businesses). This would be the case in areas where there is a strategic
authority, as these are the LTA, but not the wider licensing authority. This
section, therefore, looks at the impact of a split on the wider licensing
function, for which local government is responsible.

If an LTA becomes responsible just for taxi and PHV licensing, there would
be some duplication of licensing processes between it and the local
authority responsible for the wider licensing function. The taxi and PHV
licensing regime is, however, designed and intended to be self-funding and
so paid for by the taxi and PHV sector rather than local residents. This
means that, although there are likely to be one-off transitional costs, no
long-term unfunded burden should be placed on LTAs. If there are
transitional costs to the sector, these should be offset in the long term by the
efficiencies that would be gained from LTAs licensing a significantly larger
number of taxi and PHV drivers, vehicles and PHV operators across their
larger area.

Taxi and PHV licensing can currently be a significant proportion of a local
authority’s licensing function, so moving it could potentially impact the other
licensing functions referenced above. Where a local authority team works
across multiple licensing functions, the loss of the taxi and PHV licensing
function may mean that they need to reallocate resources to take into
account the reduction in responsibilities and the corresponding reduction in
income.

As mentioned above, taxi and PHV licensing should be self-funding and
funds raised from taxi and PHV licensing fees cannot be used to fund other
licensing regimes. For this reason, making LTAs responsible for taxi and
PHV licensing should not affect the funding available for other forms of
licensing that are not the responsibility of the relevant LTA.

Given the current significant variances in licensing requirements across the
country, LTAs taking on licensing for the first time could face a challenge in
rationalising the existing licensing requirements for their area. If all
authorities followed the recommendations in the guidance issued by the
department, this difficulty should be mitigated. Consolidating requirements
provides an opportunity to engage the breadth of the sector and passengers
across the expanded area to determine the appropriate licensing
requirements.

Should the proposal be taken forward, we would encourage LTAs taking on
licensing to develop policies, requirements and have in place systems to

Page 48



process licensing applications before assuming responsibility for taxi and
PHV licensing. While LTAs could seek to temporarily continue to apply the
requirements of their predecessors in their respective areas as a transitional
measure, it would be preferable for LTAs to have in place the long-term
regime they intend to take forward.

LTAs would need to agree transitional arrangements for those who are
already licensed by one of their predecessors in terms of complying with
any new licensing policies where these are different. It would be
unreasonable, for example, for an LTA to expect the replacement of vehicles
with little notice and it should consider a reasonable timeframe for a fleet to
adjust. Having an agreed policy on these matters in advance of any transfer
of responsibility would, however, enable those licensed for the first time to
meet the new requirements from day one.

Most taxi and PHV licensing powers are a non-executive function of
councils and current strategic authorities effectively only have an executive.
Should the proposal to move licensing to all LTAs be taken forward, we
would need to consider how best the licensing power should be conferred
and exercised by LTAs. We would take into account the 2 existing models,
the model operated by the Mayor of London and TfL and the model
operated by local authorities outside London, as well as other relevant
information.

Impact on the taxi and PHV sector
As stated in the ‘Proposed changes in local government’ section, in many
areas the authority responsible for taxi and PHV licensing could be
changing as a result of the LGR programme. Making LTAs responsible for
taxi and PHV licensing, regardless of which body in an area has this role,
would deliver benefits for both taxis and PHVs. Improvements in
consistency and efficiency of licensing would simplify the process for
applicants and those seeking to renew their licence. The main impact would
be fewer licensing authorities covering larger areas. These areas would
better reflect the working practices of the sector and the travel patterns of
their customers, the public.

Consistency

Each of the current 263 licensing authorities in England has its own taxi and
PHV licensing policies, which has led to significant variation in non-safety
related requirements, for example, vehicle requirements, across the country.

Page 49



The difference in licensing requirements and fees between current licensing
authorities can vary the costs for taxi and PHV vehicle proprietors and
drivers by hundreds, if not thousands of pounds and far greater differentials
for operator licensing fees.

These licence holders serve passengers who will frequently move between
licensing authority areas, especially in our cities, where metropolitan
councils are currently the licensing authorities but are not the LTA. For
example, a passenger may live in one area, work in another and socialise in
a third, yet each will have different licensing requirements, and so costs, for
taxi and PHV services.

Making LTAs, who in metropolitan areas are already the strategic authority,
responsible for licensing, would mean that the same licensing requirements
would apply across a wider area that better reflects passengers’ travel
patterns. Alongside the adoption of the statutory guidance
(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/statutory-taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-
standards) and best practice guidance
(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-licensing-
best-practice-guidance), this would ensure consistency in a region by making
a single authority, with requirements, policies and processes applied
throughout. Nationally, reducing the number of licensing authorities is
expected to increase consistency.

Making LTAs responsible for licensing would simplify the operation of taxi
and PHV businesses for those who currently operate in multiple licensing
areas within a region. This simplification would give the many small
businesses that operate in this sector valuable clarity and lower costs
through reduced time spent obtaining multiple licences and monitoring
multiple authorities’ policies, thus empowering them to focus on providing a
safe and efficient service for passengers. As outlined previously, consulting
once on policies and applying these over a wider area would increase
consistency and reduce administrative costs that would be reflected in lower
licensing costs to the sector.

Cost and speed of licensing
The variance in time and cost to obtain a licence is a major influence on
where individuals and businesses choose to license. For example, a driver
may wish to obtain a licence from the authority in which they live and intend
to work, but unnecessary requirements and long processing times may
induce them to license elsewhere, even if fees are higher, so that they can
start to earn an income sooner. This does not mean that either the driver or
the vehicle they use is unsafe.

Page 50

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/statutory-taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-standards
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/statutory-taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-standards
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/statutory-taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-standards
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-licensing-best-practice-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-licensing-best-practice-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-licensing-best-practice-guidance


If the government decided to make LTAs responsible for licensing, there
would be administrative efficiencies and benefits for taxi and PHV licensing
due to there being fewer licensing authorities of greater scale. For example,
where a strategic authority, as the LTA, receives a larger number of
applications for taxi and PHV driver licences, it should be better able to run
required training courses or provide testing opportunities more frequently.

Drivers and PHV operators
The proposal to make LTAs responsible for licensing would result in larger
licensing areas, which potentially could give taxi drivers the ability to ply for
hire across a much larger area, opening up additional earning opportunities,
although licensing authorities may decide to introduce taxi zones. The PHV
sector and its regulation would also benefit from these changes.

The ‘triple licensing lock’ can lead to drivers seeking licences from
authorities other than where they predominantly work, so they can work with
PHV operators that are popular with the public, even though they are not
licensed by that area’s authority. A PHV operator that is popular with
passengers in a region will be able to attract more drivers, as it can provide
drivers with more work. If this operator does not hold a licence with a
driver’s local authority, but the driver wishes to work with/for that operator,
they must apply for a licence with an authority that licenses that operator.

If a large number of driver and vehicle licence holders change the authority
they license with to work with or for a particular PHV operator, this could
significantly impact PHV operators licensed by the original authority. Those
operators licensed by that authority would have a smaller number of drivers
and vehicles available, which may affect the service levels they can provide
and so they may lose even more passengers to the popular operator. This
could induce affected operators to follow the flow of drivers and seek an
additional operator licence to retain access to a larger pool of drivers and
vehicles.

For example, a PHV operator that wanted to be able to draw from the pool
of drivers licensed by every authority in Greater Manchester would need to
hold 10 licences, with all the cost and complexity this entailed, and may
need to sub-contract bookings between its operations to be able to send the
driver that was closest to the passenger, reducing wait times, avoiding ‘dead
miles’ and the unnecessary congestion and emission this creates.

LTAs, being the licensing authority, would create a single large licensing
authority for a region. This change would create a larger pool of drivers,
making it easier for smaller PHV operators to co-exist alongside larger ones
without having to change where they are licensed to maintain access to a
wide pool of drivers. This would also have benefits for drivers, making it

Page 51



easier for them to change who they work with. Increased competition
among operators for drivers may result in better pay and conditions from
operators, without having to apply for a different licence.

Taxi zones

Under the existing system, some licensing authority areas are divided into
taxi zones. Taxi zones act as separate licensing areas for taxis but are
administered by one licensing authority. Each taxi zone has its own byelaws
and may have different licensing requirements and fare tariffs. A taxi driver
and vehicle may receive a licence for a zone only, rather than the entire
licensing area.

Currently, licensing authorities are only able to abolish taxi zones in their
licensing area or retain them wholly unchanged. This means that these
zones exist as a result of previous local government reorganisation rather
than to better regulate the taxi sector.

Using zones means that local knowledge tests can be set for each taxi zone
rather than across the entire licensing authority area and different licensing
requirements can be set for each taxi zone. However, taxi zones can also
create additional complexity and cost in the administration and enforcement
of the taxi licensing regime for licensing authorities.

Under the current licensing framework with 263 licensing authorities, the
department’s best practice guidance for taxi and PHV licensing authorities
(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-licensing-
best-practice-guidance) recommends the abolition of taxi zones, as zoning to
subdivide what may already be small licensing areas diminishes the supply
of taxis and the scope for customer choice. If larger licensing authority
areas are created, DfT recognises the potential benefits of continuing to set
local knowledge tests for taxi drivers over a smaller area, where the relevant
licensing authority considers this necessary. The department would look to
update the guidance to reflect this.

Financial implications of licensing policy
rationalisation

If licensing was moved to LTAs, there could potentially be a financial short-
term cost to taxi and PHV drivers, vehicle proprietors and PHV operators
due to the potential for rationalisation and standardisation of licensing
requirements in the areas affected. For example, if an LTA were to replace

Page 52

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-licensing-best-practice-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-licensing-best-practice-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-licensing-best-practice-guidance


several authorities that have variations in their licensing policies, this would
need to be rationalised in its new policy, which would lead to changes in
some licensing requirements for some, if not all, licensees.

Changes could include different vehicle specifications or additional training
requirements that generate extra costs for businesses and existing licence
holders. Equally, this may mean that those who might be subject to
excessive and disproportionate regulation may benefit from the
rationalisation process, but the financial implications would vary between
individuals. The need for changes should be mitigated if existing polices
already follow the guidance issued by the department.

LTAs, being the licensing authority, would have a positive long-term impact
through the greater consistency in licensing requirements and efficiencies
for the taxi and PHV sector. It would be the responsibility of LTAs to
determine the transition arrangements to any new policies and allow the
sector sufficient time to comply with any new requirements.

Impact on passenger experience
The public are with a few exceptions able to choose which business they
use and competition encourages better services and value for consumers.
Passengers should be able to choose which licensed operator they wish to
use. Taxis are more regulated and restricted in how they provide services to
protect consumers, as in the immediate hire (hail and rank) market,
competitive pressure does not apply as they are unable to compare prices
and other factors.

The licensing regime should reflect the way in which the public uses taxi
and PHV services, as people will regularly travel beyond licensing authority
areas, particularly in our cities. For example, someone may live in one
metropolitan borough council’s area, work in another and socialise in a third.
These proposals would amend the licensing regime to better reflect that.
Residents would benefit most if taxi and PHVs are integrated into the local
transport network and moving licensing to LTAs will help ensure that they
are considered during local transport planning.

Though the safety standards applied to drivers, vehicles and PHV operators
are already broadly the same, increased consistency in other aspects of
licensing should provide the public with a more consistent experience.
Integration of taxi and PHV licensing within LTAs may give them a greater
opportunity to create improvements beyond taxi and PHV services by
facilitating a holistic local transport network where different modes of
transport interact effectively and support one another. This would benefit the
wider travelling public.

Page 53



The increased ability to undertake compliance activity highlighted earlier will
ultimately lead to safer journeys for passengers by empowering LTAs to
maintain effective oversight of the larger number of licensees in its area and
take direct action against drivers, vehicles and PHV operators who break
the rules, without relying on securing co-authorisation of licensing officers
from other authorities. The consolidation of licensing at the LTA level may
also help to ensure resources are available to target unlicensed and
uninsured drivers and vehicles.

Accessibility policies
LTAs taking on the licensing function would need to develop a new licensing
policy and rationalise the various licensing policies which the previous
authorities had. This could have a significant impact on disabled
passengers, as we know that disabled people use taxis and PHVs more
than those who are not disabled, as reflected in the National Travel Survey
(https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/transport-disability-and-
accessibility-data-tables-dis04).

Disability is a protected characteristic under the Equality Act 2010, and
disabled people may face particular barriers accessing taxi and PHV
services if authorities fail to regulate services inclusively. Some licensing
authorities have licensing requirements to improve the accessibility of
services. According to the department’s taxi and private hire vehicle
statistics, as of 1 April 2024:

67% of licensing authorities required taxi drivers to complete disability
awareness training
65% of licensing authorities required PHV drivers to complete disability
awareness training

The best practice guidance for licensing authorities in England
(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-licensing-
best-practice-guidance) states that drivers should be trained in disability
awareness and/or have their knowledge and skills assessed. The guidance
also sets out that authorities should understand the demand for accessible
services in their area, including wheelchair accessible vehicles, as part of
their wider inclusive service plans, and ensure that they have the right mix
of vehicles. As set out above, the department would expect the guidance to
be the starting point for the creation of new licensing authority policies,
including on accessibility.

Though this is a recommendation in the department’s best practice
guidance and all licensing authorities are subject to the Public Sector
Equality Duty (PSED), not all authorities currently require the completion of

Page 54

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/transport-disability-and-accessibility-data-tables-dis04
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/transport-disability-and-accessibility-data-tables-dis04
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/transport-disability-and-accessibility-data-tables-dis04
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-licensing-best-practice-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-licensing-best-practice-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-licensing-best-practice-guidance


disability awareness training and/or the passing of an assessment before a
licence is granted. The government would expect LTAs to include this
requirement in their licensing policies. This would increase the number of
suitably skilled drivers, making taxis and PHVs more accessible for disabled
passengers. While it is the case that new licensing authorities could elect
not to require this, which could mean taxi and PHV services became less
accessible, given the steer from government and their PSED obligations, we
consider this an unlikely outcome when looking at policies afresh.

Similarly, new licensing policies could positively or negatively affect the
number of wheelchair accessible taxis and PHVs available to passengers
who require them. Current licensing authorities, particularly in urban areas,
may have a policy that all taxis must be wheelchair accessible. This is less
common in more rural areas where there may be little or no demand for
rank and hail services and passengers instead rely on booking a taxi or
PHV in advance and passengers can specify their requirements at the time
of booking to ensure the vehicle satisfies their needs.

It is possible that, with more licensing authorities covering both urban and
rural areas as they cover a larger geographic area, there could be calls for
the removal of policies that require all or part of the taxi and PHV fleet to be
wheelchair accessible, potentially reducing the overall supply for
passengers who require such vehicles. The recommendations in the best
practice guidance should mitigate this risk, as the new licensing authority
would be expected to ensure that the supply of wheelchair accessible
vehicles meets the demand in their area. The new authority could
incentivise the provision of wheelchair accessible vehicles.

Compellability
When a taxi is at a rank or hailed in the street, the driver is obliged to take a
passenger anywhere within a prescribed area unless they have a
reasonable excuse. Outside London, the prescribed area is usually the
licensing authority boundary or within any taxi zones that the authority may
operate. The area in which this duty applies is often referred to as the
‘compellable area’. This provides passenger protection, as drivers are
required to accept less attractive journeys, for example, because they are
short or to an unpopular destination.

Journeys that occur entirely within the compellable area are also subject to
fare regulation. Licensing authorities can set the maximum fares for taxis
they license. Fare regulation and compellability provide important consumer
protection in situations where passengers are unable to shop around, unlike
the pre-booked PHV sector, where market forces apply.

Page 55



Under the current situation, where a passenger wants to take a taxi to
another licensing area (which could be a different borough of a metropolitan
area) or zone, the driver would generally be under no obligation to take
them. Where a taxi driver does agree, the passenger would not benefit from
the protection of regulated fares.

Moving licensing to the LTA level would mean that, in most places, there
would be larger taxi and PHV licensing areas, which would mean, in the
absence of taxi zones, the compellable area for taxis would be larger as
well. This could provide greater protection on price within these larger areas
and give passengers, including disabled passengers who rely on taxis the
most, greater travel freedom. It would, however, place taxi drivers under an
obligation to carry passengers much longer distances than at present. It
would be for LTAs to decide whether to implement taxi zones or use a single
area approach. They would be expected to balance the benefits of large
areas for passengers with the impacts this would have on taxi drivers.

How to respond
See the ways to respond section of the consultation page on GOV.UK
(https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/local-transport-authorities-and-the-
licensing-of-taxis-and-private-hire-vehicles) to find out how you can respond to
this consultation.

The consultation period began on 8 January 2026 and will run until 1 April
2026. Ensure that your response reaches us before the closing date.

If you would like further copies of this consultation document, it can be
found on GOV.UK (https://www.gov.uk/dft#consultations) or you can contact
taxisandphvs@dft.gov.uk if you need alternative formats (Braille, audio CD,
etc.).

You can submit your response to:

Taxi and PHV Policy Team
Zone 2/22
Department for Transport
Great Minster House
33 Horseferry Road
London
SW1P 4DR

Alternatively, you can email: taxisandphvs@dft.gov.uk.

Page 56

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/local-transport-authorities-and-the-licensing-of-taxis-and-private-hire-vehicles
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/local-transport-authorities-and-the-licensing-of-taxis-and-private-hire-vehicles
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/local-transport-authorities-and-the-licensing-of-taxis-and-private-hire-vehicles
https://www.gov.uk/dft#consultations
mailto:taxisandphvs@dft.gov.uk
mailto:taxisandphvs@dft.gov.uk


When responding, state whether you are responding as an individual or
representing the views of an organisation. If responding on behalf of a
larger organisation, make it clear who the organisation represents and,
where applicable, how the views of members were assembled.

What will happen next
We will publish a summary of responses, including the next steps, in due
course on GOV.UK. Paper copies will be available on request.

If you have questions about his consultation, contact:

Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Policy Team
Zone 2/22
Department for Transport
Great Minster House 
33 Horseferry Road 
London 
SW1P 4DR 

Email address: taxisandphvs@dft.gov.uk

Full list of questions
These questions are listed here to give you an overview of what we are
asking. The consultation response form may include more questions, for
example, questions about who you are. 

See the ways to respond section of the consultation page on GOV.UK
(https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/local-transport-authorities-and-the-
licensing-of-taxis-and-private-hire-vehicles) to read a full list of questions and
find out how you can respond to them.

Consultation questions for local authorities
Questions to local authorities who are currently responsible for taxi
and private hire vehicle licensing
If all local transport authorities were made responsible for taxi and private
hire vehicle licensing as proposed, would your local authority expect:

Page 57

mailto:taxisandphvs@dft.gov.uk
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/local-transport-authorities-and-the-licensing-of-taxis-and-private-hire-vehicles
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/local-transport-authorities-and-the-licensing-of-taxis-and-private-hire-vehicles
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/local-transport-authorities-and-the-licensing-of-taxis-and-private-hire-vehicles


Question 1: Any one-off costs? If so, what would the one-off costs to your
authority be for? How much would the costs be? Please provide a monetary
value in pounds, if possible, otherwise the resource time required in hours. 

Question 2: Any ongoing costs? If so, what would the ongoing costs to your
authority be for? How much would the additional costs be? Please provide a
monetary value in pounds, if possible, otherwise the resource time required
in hours. 

Question 3: Any one-off savings? If so, what would the savings to your
authority be for? How much would the savings be? Please provide a
monetary value in pounds, if possible, otherwise the resource time required.

Question 4: Any ongoing savings? If so, what would the savings to your
authority be for? How much would the savings be? Please provide a
monetary value in pounds, if possible, otherwise the resource time required.

Questions to local transport authorities who would become
responsible for taxi and private hire vehicle licensing if this proposal
went ahead
If all local transport authorities were made responsible for taxi and private
hire vehicle licensing as proposed, would your local authority expect:

Question 5: Any one-off costs? If so, what would the one-off costs be for?
How much would the costs be? Please provide a monetary value in pounds,
if possible, otherwise the resource time required in hours.

Question 6: Any ongoing costs? If so, what would the ongoing costs be for?
How much would the costs be? Please provide a monetary value in pounds,
if possible, otherwise the resource time required in hours.

Question 7: Any one-off savings? If so, what would the savings to your
authority be for? How much would the savings be? Please provide a
monetary value in pounds, if possible, otherwise the resource time
required. 

Question 8: Any ongoing savings? If so, what would the savings to your
authority be for? How much would the savings be? Please provide a
monetary value in pounds, if possible, otherwise the resource time required.

Consultation questions for the Taxi and PHV sector
If all local transport authorities were made responsible for taxi and PHV
licensing as proposed, would you expect:

Page 58



Question 9: Any one-off costs? If so, what would the one-off costs be for?
How much would the additional costs be? Please provide a monetary value
in pounds, if possible, otherwise the resource time required in hours.

Question 10: Any ongoing costs? If so, what would the ongoing costs be
for? How much would the costs be? Please provide a monetary value in
pounds, if possible, otherwise the resource time required in hours.

Question 11: Any one-off savings? If so, what would the savings to your
business be for? How much would the savings be? Please provide a
monetary value in pounds, if possible, otherwise the resource time required.

Question 12: Any ongoing savings? If so, what would the savings be for?
How much would the savings be? Please provide a monetary value in
pounds, if possible, otherwise the resource time required.

Consultation questions for all respondents
Consultation questions on proposals
Question 13: Should all local transport authorities be responsible for taxi
and private hire vehicle licensing? Why?

Consultation questions on economic benefits and costs
Question 14: Are there wider economic benefits in making all local transport
authorities responsible for taxi and private hire vehicle licensing? If so, what
are they?

Question 15: Are there other costs in making all local transport authorities
responsible for taxi and private hire vehicle licensing? If so, what are they?

Freedom of Information
Information provided in response to this consultation, including personal
information, may be subject to publication or disclosure in accordance with
the Freedom of Information Act 2000 (FOIA) or the Environmental
Information Regulations 2004.

If you want information that you provide to be treated as confidential, please
be aware that, under the FOIA, there is a statutory code of practice with
which public authorities must comply and which deals, amongst other
things, with obligations of confidence.

Page 59



In view of this, it would be helpful if you could explain to us why you regard
the information you have provided as confidential. If we receive a request
for disclosure of the information, we will take full account of your
explanation, but we cannot give an assurance that confidentiality can be
maintained in all circumstances. An automatic confidentiality disclaimer
generated by your IT system will not, of itself, be regarded as binding on the
department.

The department will process your personal data in accordance with the Data
Protection Act 2018 (DPA) and in the majority of circumstances this will
mean that your personal data will not be disclosed to third parties.

Confidentiality and data protection
The Department for Transport (DfT) is carrying out this consultation on
making LTAs responsible for taxi and PHV licensing. This consultation and
the processing of personal data that it entails is necessary for the exercise
of our functions as a government department. If your answers contain any
information that allows you to be identified, DfT will, under data protection
law, be the controller for this information.

What data we collect and how we will use it 

We process the following personal data through our online forms, surveys
and consultations: 

name
email address

This personal data is collected for the purpose of further communication or
response to you, including: 

asking you follow-up questions about your entry 
verifying the identity of the individual as required, for example, by sending
access passwords 

We may also ask whether you are responding on behalf of an organisation
or yourself. If responding on behalf of an organisation, we may ask for the
name of your organisation and your role in the organisation. In some
circumstance, we may also ask for some further details about the
operations of your organisation.

Page 60



This allows us to correctly weight your response, ascertain your validity to
the organisation when responding, and ascertain your employer or company
when completing transactional services.

Our lawful basis for collecting your data  

Under data protection law, the lawful basis for processing your personal
data is Article 6(1)(e) – public task.  

Processing is necessary for the performance of a task carried out in the
public interest or in the exercise of official authority vested in the controller. 

Data sharing  
Your personal data is processed on behalf of DfT by SmartSurvey
(https://www.smartsurvey.co.uk/), with respect that they are our current survey
collection software provider only. 

Your responses and evidence may be shared with third-party research
organisations, or other government departments, for the purposes of
analysis. Your name and contact details will be removed prior to that sharing
taking place and will not be shared with any other third parties unless
separately stated. 

Artificial intelligence 

Your data, including personal data, may be analysed and summarised using
technology, such as artificial intelligence (AI). Your name and contact details
will be removed prior to the use of AI.

Your data may also be used for the purposes of trialling and developing
certain AI solutions. Personal data will only be used to develop AI models
where the models are hosted on systems that are under our control. We will
not allow your personal data to go outside of those systems. 

How long we retain the data 

Your personal data will be kept securely by DfT and anonymised within 12
months of the entry or consultation closing date, unless separately stated. 

Page 61

https://www.smartsurvey.co.uk/
https://www.smartsurvey.co.uk/


Further information 

For more information about your rights in relation to your personal data, how
to complain or how to contact the DfT Data Protection Officer, view
our personal information charter
(https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/department-for-
transport/about/personal-information-charter).

All content is available under the Open Government Licence v3.0, except where otherwise stated © Crown copyright

Page 62

https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/department-for-transport/about/personal-information-charter
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/department-for-transport/about/personal-information-charter
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/department-for-transport/about/personal-information-charter
https://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/
https://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/information-management/re-using-public-sector-information/uk-government-licensing-framework/crown-copyright/
https://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/information-management/re-using-public-sector-information/uk-government-licensing-framework/crown-copyright/
https://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/information-management/re-using-public-sector-information/uk-government-licensing-framework/crown-copyright/


Appendix 2 

Consultation Questions 

The following are applicable to Local Licensing Authorities, like Lancaster City Council who are 
currently responsible for taxi and private hire vehicle licensing. 

If all local transport authorities were made responsible for taxi and private hire vehicle licensing 
as proposed, would your local authority expect:  

Question 1: Any one-off costs? If so, what would the one-off costs to your authority be for? 
How much would the costs be?  

Please provide a monetary value in pounds, if possible, otherwise the resource time 
required in hours.  

Taxi and Private Hire Licensing fees are expected to be cost neutral, with each licence fee being 
recovered for the activity related to the administration and monitoring of that licence only (one 
cannot subsidise another). 

So, whilst the Licensing Authority would have a reduced income, the loss would be resource 
rather than monetary.  

It is estimated that Taxi and Private Hire Licensing equates to between 60-70% of Officer time, 
this in resource time would be 1x 37hr per week Licensing Officer, 1 x 37hr per week 
Administration Officer, 1 x 37hr per week mechanic and approx. 10-15hr per week of Licensing 
Manager time. 

Transition costs also require consideration, ensuring the licensed trade understand and comply 
with any new or updated requirements, communication, guidance and signposting. 

Question 2: Any ongoing costs? If so, what would the ongoing costs to your authority be 
for? How much would the additional costs be?  

Please provide a monetary value in pounds, if possible, otherwise the resource time 
required in hours.  
None identified. 

Question 3: Any one-off savings? If so, what would the savings to your authority be for? 
How much would the savings be?  

Please provide a monetary value in pounds, if possible, otherwise the resource time 
required.  
None identified. 
 
Question 4: Any ongoing savings? If so, what would the savings to your authority be for? 
How much would the savings be?  

Please provide a monetary value in pounds, if possible, otherwise the resource time 
required. 
None Identified. 

 

 

 

Page 63



Appendix 2 

Consultation questions for all respondents 

Consultation questions on proposals. 

Question 13: Should all local transport authorities be responsible for taxi and private hire 
vehicle licensing? Why?  

Pros and Cons 

• Variance in political direction/priorities and plans 
• LTAs – Infrastructure/Emissions  
• LA – Protection of Public 
• Safeguarding - Local knowledge and controls 
• Loss of specialist licensing officers locally (majority cross-sector)  
• Inspection, Compliance and Enforcement  
• Licensing Committee (member) experience/training. 
• Consistency of standards/close cross border loophole – drivers less likely to shop 

around.  

Consultation questions on economic benefits and costs.  

Question 14: Are there wider economic benefits in making all local transport authorities 
responsible for taxi and private hire vehicle licensing? If so, what are they?  

To trade – scale business 

Question 15: Are there other costs in making all local transport authorities responsible for 
taxi and private hire vehicle licensing? If so, what are they? 

Resourcing the migration of data from local authorities to LTAs would be a significant, LTAs 
required to purchase Licensing software, additionally there would be an annual maintenance 
cost. 

Page 64


	Agenda
	5 Hackney Carriage Fare Review 2026
	Appendix 1 - Table of Fares
	Appendix 2 - RPI Uplift

	6 Proposed Licensing Fees 2026/27
	Fees and Charges Policy - Appendix 1
	Licensing Fees 2026 - Appendix 2
	Animal Licensing Fees - Appendix 3

	7 Government Consultation - Taxi and PHV Licensing
	Appendix 1 - Consultation Doc
	Appendix 2 - Answers


